The Institution of Structural Engineers

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction

Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures

JULY 1992

The Institution of Structural Engineers

11 UPPER BELGRAVE STREET

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures.

Addendum, April 2010

1. Introduction.

1.1 Alkali Aggregate Reaction (AAR) was first recognised in structures in the UK in about 1980. At that time there was very little information worldwide on the effects of AAR on structural behaviour, on the time scale over which AAR damage developed, or on the practical management of cracked structures.

1.2 Testing and monitoring of a wide range of UK structures, combined with research and experience from around the world, provided the information for the 1988 edition of the Institution of Structural Engineers 'Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures'. This was further developed and refined in 1992 [1] and launched at the 1992 ICAAR conference [2]. It has provided a practical basis for the appraisal of a wide range of structures [3] and its principles have been adopted in other countries [4]. However there have been some important developments internationally since 1992.

1.3 The 'Hawkins' rules [5], introduced and developed in the 1980s and updated by BRE [6], recommended limiting the alkali content in concrete in the UK. This has achieved the objective of minimising the risk of AAR in new construction. So there have been relatively few new UK structures with AAR, none of which are classified as 'severe'. RILEM is developing AAR-7-1 International Specification for Minimising Risk of AAR [7] which confirms and supplements earlier UK recommendations. It is linked to improved tests and petrographic interpretation for assessing aggregates.

1.4 UK research activity on AAR has diminished, but continuing monitoring and management of older structure has yielded some further valuable information [8]. A wide range of reactive minerals in aggregate can give rise to damaging alkali aggregate reaction and this, rather than 'alkali-silica reaction', has become the preferred general term.

2. International Developments.

2.1 The number of cases of AAR worldwide continues to increase and more structures have needed major remedial work or replacement. There are now 47 countries where AAR has been reported, up from 35 in 1992 [9]. However RILEM, which is drawing up an atlas of known reactive rock types, has found that many owners and countries are reluctant to publicise cases. The indications are that few, if any, countries are free from AAR. The growing international trade in cementitious materials and aggregates is increasing risks.

2.2 A number of countries, e.g. France and the Netherlands, which had considered themselves free from AAR in the 1980s, have found damage from AAR in bridges, dams, roads and buildings. They have initiated major research programmes yielding valuable new information from laboratory programmes and testing and monitoring damaged structures. Other countries, e.g. Canada and Japan, have maintained their active research programmes which are progressively improving our understanding.

2.3 Many of these developments have been published, but scattered in the specialist literature. However the ICAAR conferences [2 and 10 - 13], held every three or four years, have brought together papers on research and case studies of materials and engineering practice from around the world.

2.4 Increasingly AAR research is carried out in international cooperative research programmes. RILEM has become the focus for this international cooperation and maintains links with the ICOLD committee working on the particular problems that are developing worldwide from AAR in dams.

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures – Addendum, April 2010 The Institution of Structural Engineers Page 1 of 5

2.5 RILEM Technical Committee TC 191-ARP Alkali-Reactivity & Prevention:. Assessment, Specification and Diagnosis is actively developing improved guidance, drawing on the full range international research and practical experience of structures. It has published recommendations 6-1 Diagnosis [14] which supersedes the UK procedures recommended in 1992. This is linked to improved test methods, some of which have been validated, while others are still being developed and evaluated in international inter-laboratory trials. It recommends that, from the start of an investigation, there should be close links between the materials science team inspecting and testing for diagnosis and structural engineers carrying out appraisal [15].

2.6 The drafting of RILEM TC 191-ARP 6-2 Guide on Appraisal and Management of Structures [16] is progressing, with publication hopefully in about 2013. It will be linked to a guide setting out the developments in the modelling the structural behaviour of concrete elements and overall behaviour of structures with AAR. These modelling studies are being calibrated against the long term laboratory testing of concrete beams in controlled conditions and the observed behaviour of structures suffering AAR damage.

3. Significant developments

3.1 The overall philosophy and principles set out in the 1992 IStructE report have gained wide acceptance around the world. It, with material from similar national recommendations, is the framework which RILEM is using to develop its guidance on Appraisal and Management. The RILEM recommendations will include some changes in emphasis, the most important of which are summarised below. More detailed information on developments can be found from ICAAR proceedings.

3.2 Over-reaction to Traces of AAR.

3.2.1 There have been some UK cases where a petrographic examination of cores has identified signs of AAR, but there is little cracking attributable to AAR in the structure. If properly assessed these would be classified in Table 5 'Structural severity rating' as 'n – negligible'. In some instances demolition has been recommended to the owners before the structure has been assessed for 'structural severity' following IStructE recommendations.

3.2.2 It needs to be stressed that 95% of structures with signs of AAR from cracking and confirmed by petrography, need no action other than improved protection and drainage and inspection in accordance with Table 7. Isolated particles in many UK concretes will show signs of AAR under the microscope. This should not be judged without site inspection followed, if appropriate, by full structural assessment.

3.3 Monitoring Cracking and Expansion.

3.3.1 A major uncertainty when the IStructE recommendations were being drafted was the duration of crack development and damage in structures. There were suggestions that it exhausted itself after about 10 years.

3.3.2 Monitoring of structures in the UK [17] and internationally, has now shown that, once cracking is established, generally after about 5 years, cracks will grow at a broadly linear rate as further expansion occurs in the mass. There are few reported instances of the damage development slowing up or stopping, even after over 50 years, unless measures have been taken to reduce the moisture in the damaged elements. The rigorous long term monitoring (16 to 18 years) of expansions of cast blocks with OPC, as part of BRE AAR exposure site programme [18], has confirmed this linear expansion with time with no sign of it slowing up.

3.3.3 This clear evidence that AAR damage and cracking does not stop makes it essential that structures diagnosed in the 1980s and 1990s have a full specialist re-inspection and reappraisal.

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures – Addendum, April 2010 The Institution of Structural Engineers Page 2 of 5

3.3.4 In the UK monitoring has mostly been carried out using groups of Demec gauge lengths in 'Triples' across and parallel (to give seasonal thermal and moisture movement correction) to cracks in representative areas. The crack movements reflect internal expansions. Trends often take 2 or 3 years to become clear and need to be based on groups of cracks.

3.3.5 Improvements in instrumentation are making it easier to monitor overall expansions. In France, LCPC [19] have used this on several structures. The influence of restraint in each direction on expansion needs to be considered. Compressive stress from normal structural behaviour and prestress, (and that developed by the restraint of expansion by reinforcement), must be considered in planning and interpreting this data. Monitoring of overall movements and differential movements at joints has been of particular value in dams. Relatively small expansions can cause problems, but are measurable over the height or length of a dam.

3.3.6 In almost all structures there is a trend of steady growth of expansion and cracking with time unless the moisture state is changed. Drying can slow the reaction, but a later increase in moisture in the concrete will accelerate damage. The breakdown of waterproofing onto AAR concrete can trigger rapid damage development. This needs to be considered when inspecting and maintain waterproofing on bridge decks and flat roofs. These are often slabs with few shear stirrups (i. e. with only 2-D restraint), so they are vulnerable to delamination and loss of shear strength. On bridge decks the interaction of corrosion, frost damage and AAR with wheel loading can initiate serious and rapid deterioration. This needs to be highlighted when drawing up inspection and maintenance procedures.

3.4 Inspection frequencies

3.4.1 Inspection frequencies in Table 7 can be relaxed for severity ratings C 'moderate' and D 'mild', once trends for that structure have been established and moisture conditions are stable. This is because long term monitoring in most instances show that crack width growth is slow and linear with time, so a 0.3mm crack on a 20 year old structure will need another 20 years to reach 0.6mm width.

3.5 Containment of Expansions by Reinforcement

3.5.1 The effectiveness of containment by well anchored reinforcement in 3 dimensions, Class 1 in Section 8, has been confirmed in many shear and flexural tests. However for Class 3 details where there is no through thickness reinforcement there is now more evidence of delamination and loss of anchorage developing with 'Severe' AAR. Some Dutch bridges of this type [20] have been demolished and sections tested. This has shown a significant loss of shear strength. This is of greater concern in structures designed to old shear design and detailing rules which have low safety factors when assessed to current standards.

3.5.2 The Section 8.1 of the 1992 guide with Figures 14 and 15 merits further development to cover a wider range of sensitive details. For example laps at the bottom of cantilever retaining walls are particularly vulnerable to delamination. Loads on them increase from passive pressures developed as the wall curves pressing back against the soil, due to expansion of the outer compression face relative to that of the tension face, where reinforcement limits expansion.

3.6 Steel fracture.

3.6.1 In Japan over 40 bridges [21] have developed problems on crossheads and foundations, where reinforcing steel of a type which becomes brittle on bends, has been used. The forces from AAR expansions have fractured the bend reducing anchorage and containment against delamination. This has necessitated substantial remedial works. This seems to be a particular metallurgical problem with Japanese reinforcement.

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures – Addendum, April 2010 The Institution of Structural Engineers Page 3 of 5

3.7 Expansion to date.

3.7.1 Estimates of the 'expansion to date' and 'potential for further expansion' in different structural elements are essential for assessment of structures with AAR. The crack summation procedures for estimating expansion to date work well in directions where there is little restraint from structural stress, reinforcement or prestress. Further research data to help in making adjustments for the effects of compressive or tensile stress state are now available. It is also necessary to adjust for other causes of cracking.

3.7.2 There were indications when the 1992 edition was prepared that the substantial fall in Young's modulus (E) of concrete and the development of hysteresis found in testing cores using the low stress range Stiffness Damage Test (SDT) [22] gave a useful measure of the degree of microcracking from AAR in the sample.

3.7.3 This has now been confirmed internationally in a number of research programmes and there is a good correlation with petrographic evaluation. The changes in E and hysteresis have now been calibrated to estimate the 'expansion to date' in the sample. It is of particularly value in evaluating the condition of bridge decks where internal damage occurs through the depth but visible cracking is suppressed by heavy reinforcement. Similarly in foundations, the damage can be evaluated by coring down rather than full excavation. As the SDT has a low stress range (0.5 to 5.5MPa) it does not alter the sample. Therefore, the SDT can be used to evaluate 'expansion to date' on all cores prior to strength, expansion or analytical tests.

3.8 Expansion testing of cores.

3.8.1 Expansion testing of cores provides a basis for estimating the 'potential for further expansion'. Difficulties have arisen with many of the procedures for testing expansion of cores from structures and with testing cast samples. Many of the methods are summarised in Tables A1(a) and (b) in the 1992 guide, but variants have been developed over the years

3.8.2 Inter-laboratory trials have highlighted problems arising from leaching of alkali from the sample, variation in moisture conditions and the difficulties of accelerating test procedures at higher temperature without distorting the results. This is highlighted by comparison of accelerated tests on prisms at BRE [18] which typically expanded 3.5mm/m and stabilised while the corresponding large block exposed externally developed very severe cracking from 15mm/m expansion still continuing after 16 years.

3.8.3 The very high variability of the reaction and expansion within cores and between cores, due to the variations in composition, adds to the difficulties of interpretation. Because of this variability, which is the root cause of AAR cracking from differences in expansion, it is necessary to use large batches of samples to obtain the average behaviour and to quantify the variability of expansions. Tests over a few months on two or three samples will almost always give misleading results.

3.8.4 The laboratory ambient, 20 to 25°C, Type a) capillary water supply test, with moisture weight changes monitored, is simple and reliable for gauging potential further expansion, but it is slow. It accelerates by a factor of about 10 relative to the site expansions. Normally it is used over a period of at least 2 years in parallel with monitoring of cracks and/or overall expansion on the structure.

3.8.5 RILEM is collating results from a range of expansion test procedures in ongoing inter-laboratory trials and will be publishing the results and, in due course, it will make recommendations.

3.9 Modelling

3.9.1 In initial assessment, finite element modelling is not yet appropriate. Once severe AAR with structural sensitivity is established, the growing research literature on modelling can be used to guide detailed appraisals of critical parts. RILEM is developing guidance.

Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures – Addendum, April 2010 The Institution of Structural Engineers Page 4 of 5

3.10 Interaction of AAR Cracking and Microcracking with Frost and Corrosion.

3.10.1 AAR interacts with other deterioration processes. The developing cracking and microcracking opens up the structure making it more vulnerable to water and Chloride ingress and frost damage. The water and Na from salts aggravates the AAR.

3.11 **Delayed Ettringite Formation (DEF).**

3.11.1 DEF is an expansive reaction in the cement phase of concrete and can cause long term development of cracking similar to that from AAR This can occur when early age temperatures over 70°C give rise to monosulphates, which in time convert to larger ettringite crystals. Petrography will clearly differentiate DEF from AAR. Sometimes DEF and AAR interact and LCPC in France are studying this on structures and in the laboratory.

REFERENCES

- 1. Institution of Structural Engineers. Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction. Technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures. Report of an ISE task group. London, SETO Ltd, 1992.
- 2. 9th ICAAR London Proc. Int. Conf. on Alkali Aggregate Reaction. 1992
- 3. J G M Wood & R A Johnson, "The Appraisal and Maintenance of Structures with Alkali Silica Reaction." The Structural Engineer 71, 2 pp 19-23, 19th January 1993
- 4. CSA International. Guide to the Evaluation and Management of Concrete Structures Affected by Alkali- Aggregate Reaction. General Instruction No.1, A864-00, February 2000, pp. 116.
- 5. Concrete Society Technical Report 30. Alkali-silica reaction, minimising the risk of damage to concrete. Guidance notes and model specification clauses. Concrete Society, 1999, pp. 44..3rd Ed.
- 6. BRE Digest 330: Alkali-silica reaction in concrete: 2004 edition - four part set.
- 7. RILEM AAR-7-1 Draft International Specification for Minimising Risk of AAR
- J G M Wood & E C Angus, "Montrose Bridge:" Proc. Structural Faults & Repair 95 Conf. London. 1995 8.
- 9. Doran D K Ed., Refurbishment and Repair in Construction, Whittles, Scotland, 2009, Table 5.3.
- 10th ICAAR 11th ICAAR 12th ICAAR 10. Melbourne. Proc. Int. Conf. on Alkali Aggregate Reaction. 1996
- 11. Quebec. Proc. Int. Conf. on Alkali Aggregate Reaction. 2000
- 12. Beijing. Proc. Int. Conf. on Alkali Aggregate Reaction. 2004
- 13th ICAAR 13. Trondheim. Proc. Int. Conf. on Alkali Aggregate Reaction. M. Broekmans,
- B Wigum ed., NTNU Trondheim, June 2008.
- 14. RILEM AAR-6.1. Guide to Diagnosis and Appraisal of AAR Damage to Concrete in Structures. Part I: Diagnosis RILEM/TC-ACS/08/14. 2009
- Wood J G M, "Improving guidance for engineering assessment and management of structures 15. with AAR", Proc 13th ICAAR M. Broekmans B Wigum ed., NTNU Trondheim, June 2008.
- RILEM TC 191-ARP Guide on Appraisal and Management of Structures, Draft in preparation. 16.
- J G M Wood "When does AAR Stop?" pp 1016-1024. Vol II, Proc. 12th ICAAR, Beijing, Oct 2004 17.
- Thomas, M. Nixon, P. et al 'Findings from the BRE Exposure Site Effect of Fly Ash on the Expansion 18 of Concrete Due to ASR' Presentation to RILEM TC-ACS Azores Symposium, March 2010.
- LCPC Techniques et méthodes Methodes de suivi dimensionel et de suivi de la fissuration des 19. structures. Paris 2009.
- 20. J.D.Bakker, Control of ASR Related Risks in the Netherlands. Proc 13th ICAAR M. Broekmans, B Wigum ed., NTNU Trondheim, June 2008.
- Torii K. et al. A Survey on ASR-Affected Bridge Piers with Fracture of Steel Bars on Noto 21. Expressway. Proc 13th ICAAR M. Broekmans, B Wigum ed., NTNU Trondheim, June 2008.
- Chrisp, T.M., Waldron, P., Wood, J.G.M., "The development of a test to quantify damage in 22. deteriorated concrete", Magazine of Concrete Research, 1993, 247-256.

Constitution of Task Group

Eur Ing D.K.Doran, BSc(Eng), DIC, FCGI, CEng, FIStructE, FICE (2) *Chairman* (Consulting Civil & Structural Engineer)
J.F.A.Moore, MA(Cantab), BSc(Eng), ARSM, DIC, PhD, CEng, MIStructE *Vice-Chairman* (Department of the Environment)
P.S.Chana, BSc(Eng), PhD, CEng, MIStructE, MICE (1) (British Cement Association)
L.A.Clark, BEng, PhD, CEng, FIStructE, MICE (1) (University of Birmingham)
R.H. Courtier, MA CEng MICE (W S Atkins Consultants Ltd)
R.J.Currie, BSc, CEng, MIStructE, MICE (Building Research Establishment)
S.B.Desai, BE, CEng, FIStructE, MICE (Department of the Environment)
I.P.Gillson, BSc(Eng), DIC, CEng, MIStructE (1) (Central Electricity Generating Board)
R.A.Johnson, CEng, MIStructE (1) (2) (Mott MacDonald)
G.A.Patterson, MSc, CEng, MIStructE, MICE (Gifford & Partners)
A.C.E.Sandberg, BSc, FCGI, FEng, FIStructE, FICE, MIMechE, FIHT (Messrs Sandberg)
*Eur Ing G.P.Sims, BSc, PhD, CEng, FICE, (2) (Engineering & Power Development Consultants Ltd)
J.G.M.Wood, BSc, PhD, CEng, MIStructE, MICE, FIAgrE (1) (2) (Structural Studies and Design Ltd)

UK corresponding members

J.Bobrowski, BSc(Eng), PhD, FEng, FIStructE, FICE (Jan Bobrowski & Partners) G.Hammersley, BSc, MSc, FGS (1) (Laing Technology Group Ltd) M.R.Hawkins, OBE, CEng, FIStructE, FICE (Devon County Council) D.Palmer, BSc(Eng), DIC, CEng, MICE (British Cement Association)

Overseas corresponding members

K.Ono (Konoike Construction Co. Ltd, Japan)
G.M.Idorn (G.M.Idorn Consult. A/S, Denmark)
G.E.Blight (University of Witwatersrand, South Africa)
D.Stark (Construction Technology Laboratories Inc, USA)

A.K.A.Lorans, BSc(Eng), ACGI, Secretary to the Task Group (The Institution of Structural Engineers)

Notes:

- * Nominated by the Institution of Civil Engineers
- (1) Denotes members of Drafting Panel chaired by Dr.J.G.M.Wood.
- (2) Denotes members of the Editorial Panel chaired by Mr D.K.Doran

Published by SETO Ltd, 11 Upper Belgrave Street, London, SW1X 8BH.

ISBN 1 874266 02 6

©1992: The Institution of Structural Engineers

The Institution of Structural Engineers and the members who served on the Committee which produced this report have endeavoured to ensure the accuracy of its contents. However, the guidance and recommendations given in the report should always be reviewed by those using the report with regard to the full circumstances of their particular application. Accordingly, no liability for negligence or otherwise can be accepted by the Institution, the members of its Committee, its servants or agents.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior permission of the Institution of Structural Engineers who may be contacted at 11 Upper Belgrave Street, London SW1X 8BH.

Contents

Foreword
1 Introduction 7 1.1 Structure of report 7 1.2 Relationship to other UK recommendations on ASR 7 1.3 The updated recommendations 7
Part I ASR The process and its effects
2 The development of ASR damage in UK structures . 8
3 The chemical processes of ASR103.1 Alkali-silica reactions103.2 Alkalis in concrete103.3 Reactive silica103.4 Water103.4 Water114 Physical effects on concrete of ASR expansion124.1 Local effects124.2 Expansion124.3 Cracking134.4 Changes in physical properties134.5 Time-scale of the development of ASR damage14
5 The effects of ASR on concrete structures 15 5.1 General 15 5.2 Influence of restraints 15 5.3 Effects on member strength 16 5.4 Effects on serviceability 18 5.5 Effects of expansion on overall behaviour 18 Port II Accessment appraisal and monitoring of structure

Part II Assessment, appraisal and monitoring of structures

6 Assessment of structures		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	19
6.1 General		•					•	•	•	•				•	•	•	19
6.2 Initial overall evaluation	n e	of	a	st	ru	ICI	tui	re	•	•	•	•	•	·	·	·	19

6.3 Initial checks for structural significance of ASR 6.4 Initial structural severity rating	19 21
elements and overall behaviour	21
7 Diagnosis and assessment of reaction severity	22
7.1Diagnosis	22
7.2 Testing	22
7.3 Assessment of expansion	22
8 Appraisal of structural strength	26
8.1 General	26
8.2 Expansion indices	27
9 Appraisal of structural serviceability	29
9.1 Cracking and corrosion in reinforced concrete	29
9.2 Cracking and corrosion in prestressed concrete	29
9.3 Deformations in structural members	29
9.4 Deformations in mass concrete	29
9.5 Frost resistance	29
9.6 Effect on fire resistance	29
10 Management of ASR affected structures	30
10.1 Management procedures	30
10.2 Inspections	30
10.3 Instrumentation	30
10.4 Monitoring of ASR deterioration in structures	31
10.5 Monitoring of changes	31
10.6 Crack and movement monitoring	32
Part III	
11 Research needs	34

Appendix A	Summary of test procedure	35
Appendix B	Bibliography	38

Foreword

This document updates advice given in the Institution report Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction, interim technical guidance on appraisal of existing structures published in December 1988. The Task Group has taken advantage of new data derived from, inter-alia, the following:

- work carried out by UK Universities, Polytechnics and other research organisations
- papers presented at the 8th International Alkali-Aggregate Reaction Conference in Kyoto in 1989 and other similar international seminars
- additional field experience of the problem.

The international dimensions of the problem, now reported to have occurred in over 35 countries, have been recognised and the Task Group now includes corresponding members from Denmark, Japan, South Africa and the U.S.A. Their contributions have been invaluable.

Communication with our sister committees has been improved by also inviting Michael Hawkins, Chairman of the Concrete Society Alkali-Aggregate Working Party, and Dennis Palmer, Chairman of the British Cement Association (BCA) Working Party on the Diagnosis of ASR, to be corresponding members. In this way the Group has sought to bring together slowly converging but still disparate views on a complex phenomenon. Where specific data have not been available, the Group has used engineering judgement in making its' recommendations. Additional research (see Chapter 11) may suggest further revisions to this report.

Before commencing work on the *Interim Guidance* arrangements were made for the Building Research Establishment (BRE) to establish a confidential data base of case histories. The initial response was encouraging but, in spite of renewed publicity, enthusiasm has waned. If this report in any way falls short of the Group's high expectations it will, in some measure, be due to the reluctance of some structure owners to release information. This is part of a general malaise in the construction industry by which vital data are denied to those who could influence the performance of structures. This problem must continue to be addressed.

I would like to pay tribute to the hard work and professionalism of the Task Group particularly at a time of economic uncertainty. To Andy Lorans, Secretary to the Task Group, who has cheerfully kept us on the road to our goal go my thanks. I would also like to thank those organisations, such as the Department of Transport (DTp) and others, without whose data we could not have accomplished our work.

Constructive suggestions on this report would be welcomed by the Institution and should be addressed to the Director of Engineering.

David Doran Chairman, Task Group July 1992

1 Introduction

1.1 Structure of report

This report is divided into Part I on the process of alkali-silica reaction (ASR) and its effects, Part II covering the appraisal of specific structures and Part III on research needs.

Part I reports on the development of damage in structures in the UK and then sets out the chemical processes before considering the physical effects on concrete. The overall behaviour of structures with ASR is also considered.

Part II starts in Chapter 6 with an outline of the overall procedure for appraising an individual structure. This is developed in detail in subsequent sections on diagnosis and assessment of severity and appraisal of structural strength. Management procedures for ameliorating the rate and consequences of deterioration. Procedures for inspection are also addressed.

Part III covers the research needs the Task Group have identified. The Appendices cover summaries of test procedures and a selected bibliography.

1.2 Relationship to other UK recommendations on ASR.

An authoritative overview of ASR was given in BRE Digest 330, 1988.^{1.1} The test methods for the initial diagnosis of ASR were set out in the BCA 1988 report on diagnosis which has now been revised.^{1.2} For structural appraisal and the development of long-term management strategies, the testing and monitoring must concentrate on quantifying the physical effects and especially their long-term trends. In the present report on current methods reference is made to the BCA report^{1.2} where appropriate. Its procedure for petrography and chemical analysis can also be used to identify the other non structural forms of cracking. Several new test methods for the effects of ASR have been developed. These are referred to in the present document.

Engineers must consider the need to minimise the risk of damage caused by ASR in new construction. The Concrete Society's recommendations^{1.3} for the specification of concrete and the DTp specifications^{1.4,1.5}, for structures, such as bridges, which are particularly vulnerable to the reaction provide a basis for this in the UK.

1.3 The updated recommendations

This report updates the 1988 IStructE report Structural effects of alkali-silica reaction, interim technical guidance on the appraisal of existing structures. The principles of the interim report have been confirmed by research in the UK and internationally and by experience in the field. This provides a basis for a relaxation of the recommendations for structures with reasonable reserves of strength. In this context, good detailing, in particular a well anchored three dimensional reinforcement cage, is important. Conversely, more emphasis is put on the need for rigorous analysis, inspection and testing for full appraisal where there are inadequate reserves of strength or poor detailing. To reflect this, the structural severity rating has been revised from that given in the interim report.

There is now a better quantitative understanding of how load induced stresses and reinforcement restraint can influence expansion and cracking. The relationship between expansion and cracking and the deterioration of concrete is also better understood.

This report distinguishes between structures where ASR is of little consequence to structural safety and serviceability and those which are at risk. The vulnerability of a structure is a function of:

- structural type
- · quality of detailing
- environment.

Where a structure is judged to be particularly at risk, specialist quantitative analysis of ASR effects may be appropriate.

The first priority in the study of a structure showing excessive cracking, from ASR or any other cause, must be to establish structural reserves, and the sensitivity of details, so that the detailed procedures to establish the causes and consequences may be related to those parts where the structure is most at risk. This overall appraisal of the structure should follow the Institution's appraisal procedures.^{1.6}Experience shows that ASR may interact with other forms of structural and non-structural cracking. It may also be combined with corrosion and occasionally, in exposed positions, frost damage. ASR tends to be associated with high cement content, so cracking from early thermal effects and shrinkage are often found to have interacted with it. The evaluation of the causes of non-structural cracking, of which ASR may be but one of many, is well covered in Concrete Society report TR22.^{1.7}

For most reinforced concrete structures, checks for ASR are required only as part of overall appraisal where signs of damage and deterioration have become apparent. The exceptions are sensitive structures that are likely to have similar cement and aggregates to those where significant damage caused by ASR has been observed.

References

- 1.1 Alkali aggregate reactions in concrete, BRE Digest 330, HMSO, with minor revision 1988
- 1.2 Palmer, D. (Chairman): *The diagnosis of alkali-silica reaction*, Report of a Working Party, 2nd edition, British Cement Association, Slough, 1992.
- 1.3 Hawkins, M.R. (Chairman): Alkali-silica reaction: minimising the risk of damage to concrete: guidance notes and model specification clauses, Concrete Society Technical Report 30, London, October 1987 with amendments November 1987
- 1.4 The manual of contract documents for highway works, Vol. 1 Specification for highway works, Part 5, Subsection 1704.6, Department of Transport, HMSO, December 1991
- 1.5 The manual of contract documents for highway works::Vol. 2, Notes for guidance on the specification for highway works, Part 5, Subsection NG1704.6, Department of Transport, HMSO, December 1991
- 1.6 Appraisal of existing structures, Institution of Structural Engineers, London, July 1980 (currently under revision)
- 1.7 Turton, C.D. (Chairman): Non structural cracking of concrete, Report of Working Party, Concrete Society Technical Report 22, Slough, 1992

PART I: ASR - the process and its effects 2 The development of ASR damage in UK structures

ASR has been known internationally as a cause of cracking since the 1940s,^{2.1} and was subject to detailed study by BRE^{2.2} in the late 1940s and 1950s. However, no structurally significant case was diagnosed in the UK before about 1975. At that time some substantial cracking in some CEGB substation bases, structures in south west England and in a car park in Devon were diagnosed as being caused by ASR.

Since then the reaction has been diagnosed in a wide range of structures built in the 1930s through to the 1970s. Fig. 1 shows a histogram of the dates of construction of UK structures where ASR has been diagnosed and details are available from a database collated by BRE.^{2.3} A number of these structures are bridges. Fig. 2 records the upper quartile of expansion of cores at a minimum of 90 days for those cases that have been studied in detail. The expansion observed in structures is much slower and may be much less than in cores (see Chapter 7). The relationship between free expansion of cores and restrained expansion in structures is covered in subsection 4.2. Table 1 is a list of types of structure affected.

A number of cases have been diagnosed in the south west of England.^{2.4} The other substantial group of structures, in Britain, in which ASR has been identified, is located in the Trent Valley. Some cases have been identified in most parts of the UK, and the range of known reactive aggregate sources has substantially increased in the last five years and no area can be considered risk

free. Precast concrete elements and some cements and aggregates used for special architectural finishes are sometimes transported hundreds of miles and have produced cases of ASR in some unexpected places.

Some hundreds of structures have clear signs of damage from ASR and the number of reported cases continues to rise. However, structurally damaging cases of ASR with significant cracking are a small proportion of structures in which some ASR could be identified by rigorous laboratory tests. These in turn are a small proportion of the total amount of concrete construction.

References

- 2.1 Tuthill, L.H.: 'Alkali silica reaction 40 years later,' Concrete International, April 1982, p.32
- 2.2 Jones, F.E. & Tarleton, R.D.: Reactions between aggregates and cement, DSIR, HMSO, 1952
- 2.3 Database of reported UK cases of ASR, BRE, Garston, Watford
- 2.4 Fookes, P.G., Comberbach, C.D., & Cann, J.: 'Field investigation of concrete structures in south west England,' Parts I-III, Concrete, 17, 18, 1983



Fig. 1 Date of construction of 134 UK structures affected by ASR reported to the BRE, and cement usage.

Table 1 Types of structure affected by ASR in the UK

.

3

types	examples
bridges	reinforced and precast concrete, including prestressed elements
hydraulic structures	dams, reservoirs, river walls, sewage works
buildings	dwellings, offices, shops, hospitals, schools
open frames and foundation structures	car parks, grandstands, foundations, retaining walls, piles and substation bases



Fig. 2 Unrestrained expansion of cores taken from 93 UK structures affected by ASR indicating the range of severity.

3 The chemical processes of ASR

3.1 Alkali-silica reactions

For an overall view of alkali-aggregate reactions the reader is referred to BRE Digest 330.^{3.1} The information below is included for completeness. ASR is the predominant form of alkali-aggregate reaction, but there are two other potentially damaging forms: alkali-carbonate reaction, in which certain dolomitic limestones react, and alkali-silicate reaction in which layered silicate rocks react. No significant case of alkali-carbonate reaction has so far been found in the UK, but some cases of alkali-silicate reaction have been identified.^{3.2} These reactions are not covered in this report.

ASR is a chemical process in which alkalis, usually predominantly from the cement, combine with certain types of silica in the aggregate, when moisture is present. This reaction produces an alkali-silica gel that can absorb water and expand to cause cracking and disruption of the concrete.

For ASR and damaging expansion of the resulting gel to occur in hardened concrete, it is necessary to have:

- a sufficiently strong alkaline pore solution
- a proportion of reactive silica in the aggregate, lying within the sensitive range
- sufficient moisture in the concrete.

Signs of ASR can often be found in sound concrete. Only in conditions with high alkalinity, a proportion of reactive silica within the sensitive range and high moisture availability will the expansion of the gel cause significant damage and change the physical characteristics of concrete.

3.2 Alkalis in concrete

The cement in concrete creates an alkaline environment, which protects the reinforcement steel from corrosion. Some of the alkalis are concentrated in the free water in the pores of the concrete and this maintains a high pH.

Calcium hydroxide (lime), common to all cement, will on its own produce a pH of about 12.5, which is sufficient to prevent corrosion in the absence of chlorides. Sodium and potassium hydroxides raise the pH to over 13 and pH can approach 14 with the highest alkali cements. It is a convention of cement chemists to express the sodium and potassium concentration in cement in terms of the oxides, that is Na₂O and K₂O. In relation to alkali-silica reaction these are normally combined in terms of the 'equivalent' sodium oxide on the basis of their molecular weights (Na₂O equivalent = Na₂O + 0.658 K₂O).

Most UK produced cement now has a monthly average Na₂O equivalent in the range 0.5% to 1% by weight of cement. However, some cement works in the past have produced cement with Na₂O equivalents of 1.2% annual average^{3.3} and over 1.4% on a daily basis. 'High' alkali cements do not provide significantly better resistance to corrosion than 'low' alkali cements, as 'high' and 'low' relate to the Na₂O equivalent, not to the Ca(OH)₂ hydration product which dominates the corrosion resistance.

The cement is, however, not the only potential source of alkalis in concrete. Admixtures, and sodium chloride from poorly washed sea-dredged aggregates can contribute significantly to alkalinity. Alkali can also be slowly released from some types of aggregate containing feldspars, some micas, and glassy rocks and glass. In the UK it is as yet unclear whether with currently exploited aggregates this can be a significant additional source of alkalinity. De-icing salts applied to concrete can locally increase the alkali content in the surface layers. Ground granulated blast furnace slag (ggbs) or pulverised fuel ash (pfa), when used as part of the cementitious material, contribute alkalis to the pore solution, but also absorb alkalis into their hydrates. Overall they lower the *pH* of the pore solution and reduce the risk of reaction. There are, however, isolated overseas cases of ASR damage where low levels of cement replacement material have been used.^{3.4}

The amount of alkali in concrete depends not only on the concentration of alkali in the cement but also on the total amount of cementitious material in the mix. For particular aggregate types and cementitious materials a broad relation exists between the total amount of alkali in the concrete and the risk of damaging ASR occurring. The most serious cases of ASR damage in the UK generally relate to mixes which had more than 4.5 kg of alkali per cubic metre of concrete. These high alkali contents are associated with mixes with high cement content between 450kg/m³ - 550 kg/m³ and/or high alkali cements (1.0% - 1.4% Na₂O equivalent).

Thus the alkali may originate from cement, pfa or ggbfs and admixtures, water, sodium chloride in aggregates and other soluble sodium and potassium in aggregates. When the total alkali is less than 3 kg/m³, using UK natural aggregates is unlikely to cause damaging expansion. This is true providing the aggregate is free of opal and there is no evidence of strong alkali migration with consequential local concentration. Moisture movement, as identified by Nixon and Gillson,^{3.5} can however concentrate alkalis to initiate reaction in parts of concrete pours with otherwise low average alkali levels. Alkalis can also be leached out of concrete immersed in water. Normal concretes with a Na₂O equivalent of low alkali cement below 0.6% and no other source of alkali are not known to have caused ASR expansion with UK natural aggregates. Opals, and glass used as a decorative aggregate, will react at a lower concentration.

3.3 Reactive silica

Silica is found in many geological deposits in a wide range of crystal structure and grain size. Only silica with disordered structure and/or fine particle size reacts with alkali in concrete to a significant extent. Opal, which has a disordered structure, is highly reactive and can cause damage even in concentrations as low as 1% or 2% of the mix.

The type, particle size and proportion of silica in the aggregate will influence the rate and severity of the reactivity of the concrete. The severity of the expansive ASR will increase as the proportion of reactive silica in the total amount of aggregate in the mix increases up to the 'pessimum'. The pessimum is the proportion of reactive aggregate that gives the most adverse effect. With an increasing proportion above the pessimum, the concentration of hydroxide in solution becomes insufficient to maintain the same degree of attack, and the expansion decreases again. The sensitive range of silica is the proportion on either side of the pessimum within which damage and expansion may arise.

Laboratory experiments and observations of concrete affected by ASR have shown that for flint or chert the greatest damage results when less than half the aggregate consists of these materials, but the exact proportion varies with the type and grading of the flint or chert. Significant damage can however occur with 5% of chert. In concrete containing the relatively chert-rich sand dredged off the south coast of England, ASR damage has been observed when it has been used with an inert coarse limestone or granite aggregate. A similar combination of Thames Valley fine aggregate with coarse limestone and high alkali contents has been used to produce ASR damage for the BRE, SERC and TRRL test programmes. With Trent Valley

Table 2 Some examples of reactive aggregate combinations in UK concretes with ASR

coarse aggregate	fine aggregate	structure locations	reactive minerals		
limestone (inert) or granite	south coast sea dredged	Devon/Cornwall & Hampshire	chert in fines		
Trent Valley gravel	Trent Valley gravel	Midlands	chert and quartzite		
granite (inert)	Essex sand, quartz sand with chert	Midlands	chert		
limestone, manufactured glass & chert	limestone, manufactured glass & chert	NW England	manufactured glass		
limestone	limestone	North England	fine siliceous impurity		
flint	quartz sand & siliceous limestone	SE England	siliceous limestone		
greywacke sandstones & argillites	natural sand mainly quartz & quartzite	Wales & SW England	greywacke/argillite		
meta-argillite	meta-argillite	North England	meta-argillite		

Note: This is not intended to be a comprehensive list; many other combinations of aggregates that are reactive may be found to exist in the UK. World-wide there are examples of most rock types reacting due to relatively small proportions of reactive minerals.

aggregates, which contain only a small proportion of chert, some damage is observed when both coarse and fine Trent Valley aggregate are used together. The minerals and aggregates in many UK cases of ASR are varied and contain potentially reactive minerals such as cherts and quartzites. An example of this is found in Trent Valley gravel where cherts and quartzites co-exist. The interactions between minerals and their effect on the pessimum have yet to be quantified in these mixed materials.

The grading, microstructure and proportions of reactive silica particles in aggregates vary widely between known reactive concretes world-wide. This produces substantial differences in the physical effects of the reaction. Generalized statements on the time scale and physical effects of the reaction must therefore be treated with caution. The characteristics of the alkali-silica gel formed by the reaction vary with its chemical composition, temperature, moisture content and pressure. Its consistency can range from that of heavy engine oil to that of polyethylene. Some aggregates, e.g. Danish flints, Beltane opal, generate sufficient quantities of gel for it to exude from cracks. Conversely, in most UK cases of ASR, gel is visible only when cores are petrographically examined.

The main currently known UK reactive aggregate combinations are listed in Table 2. Polished sections of ASR damaged concretes are held by BRE, Queen Mary and Westfield College and BCA.

3.4 Water

The alkali-silica gel may form in dry conditions, but it will expand and damage the concrete only if there is a sufficient supply of water. Laboratory experiments show that with concrete kept consistently in an environment below about 75% relative humidity (r.h.)* expansion will be insignificant. ASR damage is usually found in concrete exposed to the weather, in contact with or buried in the ground, immersed or partly immersed in water and concrete subject to heavy condensation. It may also occur in interior mass or sealed concrete which can expand due to the presence of residual mix water, particularly where high water-cement ratio is used with high alkali cement. A reduced water supply may curtail the reaction and will halt the expansion. However, this will redevelop rapidly when the concrete is subsequently wetted again. Such rewetting may occur as a result of change of use of the structure or may be intentionally induced in an expansion test, see section 4.1. There are examples of rapidly developed damage following leakage through deteriorated waterproofing in a building.

ł

Field and laboratory measurements of temperature, humidity, expansion and crack growth on experimental samples and on exposed structures suggest that at a r.h. consistently below 80% the movement is very slow. It starts to develop clearly in the 85% - 90% r.h. range and is most rapid in the 90% - 100% r.h. range. Concrete immersed in water may lose sufficient alkali by leaching to reduce expansion potential. In most areas of the UK the climate provides a relative humidity of 85%, or more, for most nights and for long periods in winter.

Tests may, in time, establish a basis for directly predicting field performance from expansion tests on cores. The size and low initial permeability of concrete in many structures is such that the rate of moisture migration into the concrete will control the rate of expansion. The expansion is generally substantially slower in structures than in test samples.

References

- 3.1 Alkali-aggregate reactions in concrete, BRE Digest 330, HMSO, with minor revision 1988
- 3.2 French, W.J.: 'A review of some reactive aggregates from the United Kingdom with reference to the mechanism of reaction and deterioration,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986, pp 226-230
- 3.3 Changes in the properties of OPC and their effect on concrete, Concrete Society Technical Report No 29, London, October 1987
- 3.4 ASR in Japan: report of a mission team, Cement and Concrete Association, June 1987
- 3.5 Nixon, P.J., & Gillson, I.P.: 'An investigation into alkali-silica reaction in concrete bases at an electrical substation,' 7th Int. 'Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986

^{*}Strictly this is the equilibrium relative humidity within the concrete, i.e. the humidity level of air in vapour pressure equilibrium in the concrete.

4 Physical effects on concrete of ASR expansion

4.1 Local effects

ASR in a concrete is not significant unless it has produced or is likely to produce substantial expansion, cracking, loss of strength or threatens serviceability. Many concretes exhibit harmless signs of the reaction under petrographic analysis.

The swelling pressure exerted by the gel as it absorbs moisture sets up tensile stress locally in the surrounding concrete which may lead to micro-cracking. The pressure is reduced as the gel permeates into the surrounding sand/cement matrix or porous aggregate. Micro-cracking can be examined petrographically and its nature depends on the size, spacing and porosity of the reacting particles. Micro-cracking reduces the stiffness, ultrasonic pulse velocity (UPV) and strength of concrete as discussed in section 4.4. The gel formation and expansion rate, viscosity and volume changes vary with the form of silica, alkali and conditions of temperature and moisture.

Experimental determinations of the pressure from the swelling of pore gels have been performed^{4.1,4.2} but the data do not provide a good measure of the stress generated. Alternative estimates of this stress may be obtained from restrained expansion testing of concrete specimens and strain gauging of reinforced concrete specimens.^{4.3, 4.4, 4.5}

4.2 Expansion

When the reaction develops at a sufficient number of points within the concrete an overall expansion occurs. The intensity of the reaction will be variable both in terms of distribution in the body of the concrete and in the time scale of development. This results in the variation in expansion as shown in Figs 3(a) - 3(c). Reasons for this variation include:

- the cement and aggregates may have been supplied from a number of sources for different pours of concrete
- cement content and alkali level vary both between and within pours
- type and quantity of reactive materials may differ
- variation in batching, mixing and placing affecting concrete permeability, void ratios and local aggregate-cement ratio
- differing exposure environment such as moisture, drying wind and sun etc., leading to variation in moisture content and temperature
- moisture and alkali migration may result in alkali concentration or reduction due to leaching from the surface
- variation in reinforcement density, structural loading or external restraint modifying what would otherwise be unrestrained three-dimensional expansion.

Differential expansion may cause cracks between expanding and non-expanding parts. Cracking of the outer layers may result where there is differential expansion between heart and surface concrete. This cracking is typically the first indication of damaging ASR. Work is currently being undertaken^{4.6} to investigate the relationship between expansion and cracking, changes in stiffness, and the stress/strain curve in compression and ultrasonic pulse velocity (UPV). These in combination provide a basis for estimating the expansion.

The expansion of the concrete depends on the availability of water for absorption into the alkali silica gel. This is governed



Fig. 3a Variations in overall mean expansions on 7 cores from the same slab pour $% \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{slab}}$



Fig. 3b Variability of cores from the same structure from 7 different pours



Fig. 3c Variability of expansion within cores

by the penetration of water into the concrete and is subject to seasonal variations. Changes in use or defective drainage can increase water availability and expansion rate dramatically. The reaction and expansion will not normally be fully completed, Estimates must therefore be based on substantial completion of expansion, say 90%.

A measure of the potential for further unrestrained expansion can be obtained by subjecting cores extracted from the structure to controlled damp conditions. (See appendix A for test procedures). As moisture is absorbed concrete swells, typically by 0.2 mm/m, due to the recovery of drying shrinkage. In very severe cases of ASR, further expansion, typically 3 mm/m, may be expected. The expansion of a core is dependent on moisture, previous expansion, curing history and the restraints that were experienced by the core in the structure.

4.3 Cracking

Expansion is not uniform throughout the volume of the concrete. It is greater in the immediate vicinity of each reactive particle or around a cluster of such particles. The resulting differential effects can result in micro-cracking. Furthermore the micro-cracking is not uniformly distributed because it is influenced by restraints and effects at the edges of the concrete mass (see Fig. 4).

The micro-cracks within a mass of unrestrained concrete are orientated randomly. In the surface layer the degree of reactivity may be changed due to leaching of alkalis by water ^{4.7, 4.8} or by a reduction in alkalinity due to precipitation of sodium and potassium carbonates.^{4.9} Greater porosity in the outer layer may also lead to less expansion as gel may permeate into the more porous concrete.^{4.7} The combination of the variability of expansion and greater expansion of the interior concrete results in tensile strain at the surface, which can develop into macro-cracking.

In unrestrained concrete the pattern of macro-cracks is an irregular one of intersecting and bifurcating cracks which is often referred to as map cracking or 'Isle of Man' cracking. It should be noted that this pattern is also observed where differential expansion or shrinkage has occurred, and on surfaces subjected to rapid cooling, for example, when formwork on mass concrete is struck too early. In the presence of restraint to expansion, the macro-cracks will tend to be parallel to the direction of the restraint, as explained in Chapter 5.

The depth of macro-cracks does not usually exceed the lesser of the cover and about one-tenth of the member thickness,^{4,10} or is also crudely related to the width at the surface. Fig. 5 shows data from both Japanese and U.K. observations. The sectioning of members from demolished structures has shown that reinforcement effectively checks the surface crack propagation and a single surface crack spreads out into branching finer cracks and then merges into microcracking. The restraint from the surface layer of steel tends to concentrate micro cracking in its plane. This can develop into more severe delamination cracking. With high expansions this can lead to debonding and the development of stepped cracks on the end faces of members.

4.4 Changes in physical properties

Physical properties measured on unrestrained concrete specimens generally show a reduction in compressive strength, tensile strength, elastic modulus and UPV relative to their 28 day values.

The measurement of UPV is sometimes a useful non-destructive testing method. Changes in pulse velocity in concrete with ASR, calibrated relative to cores from the structure, can indicate different degrees of deterioration as outlined in Table 3. However, the pulse can be short circuited by reinforcement so that the procedure is not readily applicable to reinforced elements. The inherent scatter of UPV readings also renders it insensitive to changes in concrete condition. While pulse velocity falls rapidly in the early stages of ASR expansion it changes relatively little as further expansion develops.

The UPV may be markedly reduced by micro-cracking. Even small expansions can cause a decrease in pulse velocity to well below that expected in normal concrete. However, where cracks are filled with gel and/or water, the UPV may not be reduced.

Table 3 Typical pulse velocities related to concrete condition

Pulse velocity	Concrete condition
4.5-4.8 km/s	Normal
4.2-4.5 km/s	Some damage
3.9-4.2 km/s	Substantial damage
less than 3.9 km/s	Severe damage



Fig. 4 Development of cracking due to ASR



Fig. 5 Relationship between crack depth and width in reinforced concrete

Table 4 Lower bound residual mechanical properties as percentage of values for unaffected concrete at 28 days

Percentage strength as compared with unaffected concrete for various amounts of free expansion

	capanision								
	0.5 mm/m	1.0 mm/m	2.5 mm/m	5.0 mm/m	10.0 mm/m				
Cube compression	100	85	80	75	70				
Uniaxial compression	95	80	60	60	*	_			
Tension	85	75	55	40	*	_			
Elastic modulus	100	70	50	35	30				

Indeed, after an initial decrease of UPV due to ASR cracking, there can be a substantial recovery as cracks become filled with gel.^{4.8}

Property

Table 4 indicates lower bounds to the residual mechanical properties of unrestrained concrete for various ASR free expansions as percentages of those actual properties of unaffected concrete at 28 days. The tabulated values were derived from lower bounds to laboratory data obtained from tests on cast cubes, cylinders, prisms, and from tests on cores extracted from structures. The data are those summarised in a literature review carried out by Clark,^{4.11} augmented by additional data subsequently published^{4.8,4.12} and by unpublished core data supplied to the Task Group. It should be noted that the uniaxial compressive strength as obtained from a long cylinder or core test is reduced by ASR to a greater extent than is the cube strength. It is the uniaxial compressive strength which is required for structural assessment. The residual tensile strength is affected by the test method. The values quoted in Table 4 are appropriate to the splitting tension or torsional tension strength.

It is emphasised that the residual strengths and stiffnesses in actual structures will be modified from the figures in Table 4. This is because the concrete in actual structures is generally restrained by adjacent material and is in a biaxial or triaxial stress state. These effects will tend to reduce the damage to the concrete and increase its residual mechanical properties.

The actual 28 day strength of concrete is often in excess of its design value by an amount which is greater than any subsequent reduction due to ASR. Hence, compressive strength reduction is not normally a problem in practice. However, tensile strength reduction may require special consideration.

4.5 Time-scale of the development of ASR damage

Observations of structures cracked due to ASR indicate that cracking is first discernable 1 to 5 years after construction. The time taken for expansion to reach substantial completion depends on the source of alkalis, the aggregate type and the moisture supply to the concrete as follows:

- for concrete in which the alkalis come primarily from the portland cement, as is usual in the U.K., substantial expansion is often incomplete after 10 years
- there is virtually no upper limit to the time over which expansion can occur in concrete containing an excess of reactive silica exposed to significant quantities of external alkalis, such as deicing salts and industrial chemicals
- for concrete in which a significant quantity of alkali is contributed by aggregates of volcanic origin, such as rhyolite, andesite or artificial glass, it appears that expansion can continue for 30 to 60 years
- the damage may not start in some cases until alkali migration has resulted in a sufficient concentration of alkali and the time to reach substantial completion will be in excess of the examples quoted above

• the onset of the damage may be deferred for structures subject to change of use or to drainage faults.

Experience of similar structures in comparable environments with similar cement and reactive minerals can provide guidance. Only quantitative monitoring of the actual structure as discussed in Chapter 10 will over the years reveal its pattern of deterioration rate.

References

- 4.1 Struble, L., & Diamond S.: 'Unstable swelling behaviour of alkali-silica gels,' Cement and Concrete Research, II (4), 1981, p 611
- 4.2 Pike, R.G.: 'Pressures developed in cement pastes and mortars by the alkali-aggregate reaction,' *Highway Research Board Bulletin* 171, 1958, pp 34-36
- 4.3 Lenzner D. & Ludwig U.: 'The alkali-aggregate reaction with opaline sandstone from Schleswig-Holstein' 4th Int. Conf. on effects of alkalis in cement and concrete, Indiana, USA, 1978
- 4.4 Wood J.G.M., Young, J.S. & Ward, D.E.: 'The structural effects of alkali-aggregate reaction on reinforced concrete,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986
- 4.5 Putterill K.E. and Oberholster R.E.: 'Investigation of different variables that influence the expansion of concrete caused by AAR under natural environmental conditions,' National Building Research Institute, Pretoria, South Africa, 1985
- 4.6 Chrisp, T.M., Wood, J.G.M. & Norris, P.: 'Towards quantification of micro-structural damage in AAR deteriorated concrete,' Int. Conf. on recent developments in the fracture of concrete and rock, Cardiff, 1989
- 4.7 McLeish, A.: 'Structural implications of the alkali-silica reaction in concrete,' *Transport and Road Research Laboratory Contractor Report* 177, 1990
- 4.8 Clark, L.A. & Ng, K.E.: 'Some factors influencing expansion and strength of the SERC/BRE standard ASR concrete mix,' *Proc.* SERC - RMO Conference, London, June 1989, p 89
- 4.9 Kobayashi, K., Shiraki, R., & Kawai, K.: 'Influence of alkali concentration distribution occurring in concrete members on expansion and cracking due to alkali-silica reaction', *Proceedings of the 8th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Kyoto, Japan, July 1989, pp 641-647
- 4.10 Hobbs, D.W.: Alkali-silica reaction in concrete, Thomas Telford Ltd, London, 1988
- 4.11 Clark, L.A.: 'Critical review of the structural implications of the alkali-silica reaction in concrete,' *Transport and Road Research Laboratory Contractor Report 169*, 1989.
- 4.12 Clayton, N., Currie, R.J., & Moss, R.H.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction on the strength of prestressed concrete beams,' *The Structural Engineer*, 68, No. 15, 7 August 1990, pp 287-292

5 The effects of ASR on concrete structures

5.1 General

The more usual physical effects of differential expansion due to ASR take the following forms:

- internal microcracking associated with individual expansive particles
- surface macro-cracking
- overall dimensional changes
- induced tensile stresses in reinforcement and compressive stresses in concrete
- · induced bond stresses between steel and concrete
- differential movements between separate pours of concrete expanding at different rates.

All these effects can be modified by the restraints as discussed in Chapter 4 and are considered in more detail in the following sections.

5.2 Influence of restraints

If concrete is restrained by surrounding non-reactive concrete, applied stress or reinforcement, the expansion is inhibited in the direction of restraint, and the dominant cracks form parallel to this direction.

The restraining influence of reinforcement is illustrated in Fig.6, which shows the crack patterns due to ASR on two beams.^{5.1} During the development of cracking, the beams carried their self-weight. The upper beam had only bottom reinforcement, and map cracking can be seen in the unreinforced, hence unrestrained, top region of the beam. In contrast, the lower beam had equal top and bottom reinforcement which uniformly restrained the longitudinal expansion of the beam. The ASR cracks are parallel to the main reinforcement. Although vertical links were provided in these beams these were insufficient to prevent vertical expansion of either a singly reinforced beam or a doubly reinforced beam with unequal top and bottom reinforcement also result in a hogging curvature of such a beam.

The effects of reinforcement restraint in terms of expansion and induced stresses are:

- the net expansion is reduced from the free (unrestrained) value
- the reinforcement is stressed in tension
- the concrete is stressed in compression parallel to the reinforcement

The available test data^{5.2,5.3,5.4,5.5} are collated in Fig.7. It can be seen from Fig.7 (a) that even a comparatively small amount of reinforcement significantly restrains expansion, but the scatter of data is wide. Restraint also delays the start and slows the rate of expansion.

From Fig.7 (b) it can be seen that the compressive stress induced in the concrete by the restraint increases as the expansion rate increases. Hence, stresses in actual structures are likely to be smaller than those in specimens accelerated in a laboratory. Excluding rapid laboratory tests the induced compressive stress tends to a limiting value of not greater than about 4 N/mm². In practical terms this implies that reinforcement yield could occur, with those concretes with an expansion sufficient to induce yield strain, if the steel percentage is less than about 1.6% or 0.9% for



Fig. 6 Influence of reinforcement on ASR cracking



Fig. 7(a) Restrained expansion



Fig. 7(b) Concrete compressive stress

mild and high yield steel respectively. As noted in Chapter 11 on Research needs, more data on this are required and specific testing on this may be required for severely affected structures.



Fig. 8 Effect of compressive stress on expansion

The more heavily a section is reinforced, the smaller is the induced strain in the steel arising from expansion of the concrete. Hence, strains in shear links tend to be greater than strains in main longitudinal reinforcement. With more expansive concrete, local yield of reinforcement can arise from ASR effects alone. However, such reinforcement yield is not detrimental to the ultimate capacity provided that the reinforcement is well anchored by hooks and bends. Lack of anchorage at ends of bars can become a problem. Examples of details which are sensitive to the effects of ASR are discussed in Chapter 8. It should also be remembered that if a bar has yielded due to the effects of ASR its bond strength should be checked at its upper bound characteristic yield strength and not at its design stress of 0.87 times the characteristic yield strength. Baker^{5.6} has studied the variability of the strength of reinforcing bars.

External restraint arising from applied stress has a similar effect to internal reinforcement restraint. Fig. 8 shows relevant data ^{5.7, 5.8} obtained from specimens under constant compressive stress. It can be seen that there are considerable differences between the two sets of data, for which the reasons are not clear. However, it is apparent that applied stress does have a significant effect on expansion. Hence, external compressive stress restrains the expansion and aligns the ASR cracking parallel to the direction of the applied stress. Fig.9 shows the longitudinal cracking that developed in a circular column. Transverse cracking was prevented by a combination of dead-load stress and reinforcement restraint. After installing alternative supports this column was removed, and the release of dead load allowed transverse cracks to develop as well as bond failures on the cut ends of the main steel.

Although the effects of internal and external restraint are understood qualitatively, it is not possible, at present, to



Fig. 9 Longitudinal cracking in a circular column

accurately predict these effects quantitatively. The relationship between restrained expansion, free expansion, creep, reinforcement ratio, and applied stress is not yet sufficiently well understood.^{5,9,5,10} The test data on the effects of triaxial restraint conflict. Some data indicate that expansion is not affected by restraint in a direction at right angles, whilst other data give the opposite indication.

Although a compressive stress reduces expansion in the direction of the stress, it should be noted that a tensile stress increases expansion. However, few data are available.

5.3 Effects on member strength

The literature relating to the effects of ASR on structures published up to 1989 has been critically reviewed by Clark.^{5.11} Since 1989 there has been further relevant work published at the 1989 AAR Conference in Kyoto^{5.12} and publications by Clayton et al.^{5.7} Chana,^{5.10,5.13,5.14,5.15} Swamy,^{5.16} Rogers & Tharmabala^{5.17} and Cope.^{5.18} The conclusions which can be drawn from recent research are summarised in the following sections.

5.3.1 Beams

ASR does not have a significant effect on the flexural strength of reinforced concrete beams provided that the free expansion does not exceed about 6mm/m. At higher expansions strength reductions of up to 25% have been observed. Flexural strength can be assessed by using the uniaxial compressive strength of the ASR affected concrete in the conventional models of behaviour with due consideration of delaminations in the structure. In U.K. codes, strength equations are written in terms of characteristic cube strength f_{cu} which, for normal concrete, is approximately $1.25 f'_{c}$ where f'_{c} is the uniaxial compressive strength. Since ASR reduces the uniaxial compressive strength at a greater rate than the cube compressive strength, it is suggested that, in the flexural strength equations, f_{cu} should be reduced to the appropriate characteristic strength of the ASR damaged concrete according to Table 4.

Tests have shown no significant decrease in shear capacity as a result of ASR if at least 0.2% links are present - indeed, an enhancement of strength of up to 47% has been observed in some tests. Included in the tests were beams with anchorages to main reinforcement as small as 3.4 times the bar diameter. This observed good behaviour in shear may arise from the self-prestressing effects of the restrained ASR expansion. It is advised that a lower bound value of the prestressing effect be used at the ultimate limit state. Doubts have been raised as to whether this prestress is maintained. However, data are now available which show that at least 40% of the ASR induced prestress is present after two years in drying conditions.^{5.19} The test evidence from beams without links is conflicting with some showing an increase in shear capacity and some showing a decrease of up to 20%.

It is suggested that the shear capacity of an ASR-affected beam can be estimated by considering the influence of the compressive stress resulting from the prestressing effect of the restraint. The mechanical properties of the ASR-affected concrete should be used in making this estimate.

Repeated loading tests on reinforced concrete beams^{5.20} have demonstrated that ASR does not reduce the fatigue life, probably because the reinforcement stress range is reduced by the prestressing effect of the restrained ASR expansion.

Tests on post-tensioned beams^{5.21} and pre-tensioned prestressed concrete beams^{5.7, 5.17} have led to similar conclusions to those for reinforced concrete beams.

5.3.2 Columns

ASR can have three effects on column behaviour:

- The concrete compressive strength can be reduced. The effects of the concrete compressive strength reduction can be allowed for by using the appropriate strength in the conventional models of behaviour, see subsection 5.3.1.
- A second effect of ASR on the behaviour of columns is that delamination can occur in the plane of the reinforcement so that the concrete cover may not be effective in resisting compression. Clark^{5.11} has proposed equations for evaluating the strength of the delaminated concrete. Clark has also proposed equations to account for the reduction in strength due to the loss in buckling restraint to the main reinforcement. He confirmed that the compressive stress in the reinforcement needs to be reduced to less than its characteristic strength only if the ratio of link spacing to main bar diameter exceeds 44 and 32 for mild steel and high strength steel respectively. The effect of delamination of concrete cover should be considered; in the absence of test data, it is suggested that the cover concrete should be ignored if there is significant evidence of cover delamination. Such evidence would be longitudinal cracks wider than 0.3 mm in the vicinity of the main edge reinforcement. The reduced cross-section means that it is necessary to check the column stability.
- The compressive strain induced in the concrete as a result of the restraint to the ASR compression by the reinforcement could mean that, under load, the concrete could crush prior to the main steel yielding in compression. However, such crushing is extremely unlikely to occur in practice.^{5,11}

There has been some testing of columns cracked because of ASR.^{5.22, 5.23} However, the data are of limited value because the test specimens were either subjected to low axial loads with high shear or ASR was accelerated by a method which significantly distorted the concrete properties. Recent test data^{5.10} indicate that ASR of up to 4 mm/m free expansion should not reduce column strength by more than the reduction in cube compressive strength, and that the above approach to assessing failure loads is reasonable.

5.3.3 Slabs

In addition to the flexural and flexural shear failure modes considered in subsection 5.3.1, a slab can fail in punching shear. Tests^{5.24, 5.25} have shown no significant reduction in punching shear strength for free expansions of up to 6 mm/m. Furthermore, ASR increases the ductility of a punching shear failure. For free expansions in excess of 6 mm/m, delamination in the plane of the reinforcement effectively divides a slab into three layers if there are no links tying together the top and bottom reinforcement. In such cases strength reductions of up to 30% can result.^{5.8} If there is significant surface cracking of a slab due to ASR, it is recommended that possible delamination should be checked by coring and petrographic inspection of the cores for sub-parallel cracking.

The effects of ASR on punching shear capacity can be evaluated using conventional models of behaviour for prestressed concrete slabs^{5.8}. The appropriate compressive and tensile strengths of the ASR-affected concrete are used, and the precompression, due to the restraint to ASR expansion provided by the reinforcement, is allowed for by calculating the decompression load in the same way as for a conventional prestressed concrete slab.

5.3.4 Bond

Anchorage bond and lapped bar tests performed by Chana^{5,13,5,14} with both plain and ribbed bars have shown that ASR up to a free expansion of 4 mm/m does not have a significant effect on either type of bar when restrained by links and/or a substantial thickness of cover concrete of the order of four times the bar diameter. However, the bond strength of bars not restrained by links and with a cover of the order of 1.5 times the bar diameter is reduced by up to 50%. The reduction is proportional to the reduction in splitting tensile strength of the ASR-affected concrete.

U.K. codes of practice give simplified models of bond strength prediction which do not take into account the important influence of the cover to bar diameter ratio. Hence to assess the effects of ASR on bond it is necessary to use more sophisticated models, such as those of Tepfers^{5.26} and Reynolds.^{5.27} The application of these models to ASR concrete have been discussed by Clark^{5.11} and Chana,^{5.13} and the following formulae are proposed for bars without links:

Ribbed bar

 $f_{bs} = \alpha(0.5 + c/d) f_t$

where

fbs characteristic bond strength

- α a coefficient, 0.6 in general, but 0.43 for a corner or top cast bar, or 0.3 for a corner and top cast bar.
- c cover
- d bar diameter
- $f_t \qquad \mbox{characteristic splitting tensile strength of ASR affected} \\ \mbox{concrete}$

Plain bar

 $f_{bs} = \beta f_t$

where

B a coefficient, 0.65 in general, but 0.47 for a corner or top cast bar, and 0.33 for a corner and top cast bar.

These strengths need to be related to the bond forces including those from restraint of ASR expansion. The reduced bond strength of a top cast bar occurs in all concrete and is not a consequence of ASR. Structural checks should relate to measured cover in the bond zone.

5.3.5 Torsion and bending

Test data are not available on torsion. Although the discussion of flexural shear in subsection 5.3.1 is applicable to torsion, it should be remembered that torsional shear capacity is more dependent than flexural shear capacity on the anchorage of links. This is because of the greater tendency for the cover concrete to spall under torsional shear.

No testing has been performed on the effects of ASR on bearing strength. At the edges of corbels and local bearing details the failure mode is by splitting, so that the concrete tensile strength reduction is relevant. In respect of bearing under bends in reinforcement, the tensile strength reduction is also relevant when the cover is small, say less than four times the bar diameter. In such situations, if there are no links or secondary reinforcement to restrain a splitting failure mode, allowable bearing stresses should be reduced in proportion to the reduced concrete splitting tensile strength.

5.4 Effects on serviceability

The serviceability effects of ASR are dealt with in Chapter 9

5.5 Effects of expansion on overall behaviour

The effects of ASR expansions on the complete structure have also to be considered with due regard to the restraints to expansion provided by reinforcement, adjacent less expansive pours and the restraints on the structure as a whole. Examples of effects which can occur are:

- a member expanding in a framed structure imposing lateral forces on other members
- bending moments induced in a frame as a result of the curvature of non-symmetrically reinforced members
- increased punching shear on a bridge deck or floor slab arising from a single bridge pier or column expanding
- failure of expansion joints and adjacent structural elements when the ASR expansion has exceeded the residual movement capacity of the joints
- changes in the articulation of a structure.

As a member expands and restrains an adjacent element or structure, the effect will be to reduce the tendency for further expansion until, eventually, a force equilibrium condition is reached. Thus the final movement is less than that which would have occurred in the absence of restraint, and the induced force is less than inferred from considerations of an elastic restraint to the movement.

Particular problems have arisen from distortion, fracture and jamming of steel structures or equipment in reactive concrete structures, especially dams.^{5.28} A conservative approach is recommended if there is a doubt that sufficient ductility is available to reach the force equilibrium condition.

References

- 5.1 Koyanagi, W., Rokugo, K. and Ishida, H.: 'Failure behaviour of reinforced concrete beams deteriorated by alkali-silica reactions,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986
- 5.2 Hobbs, D.W.: 'Cracking and expansion due to the alkali-silica reaction: its effect on concrete,' *Structural Engineering Review*, 2, 1990, pp 65-79
- 5.3 Committee on AAR of the Hanshin Expressway Company: 'Report of investigation of alkali-aggregate reaction,' Hanshin Expressway Public Corporation, Osaka, Japan, 1986
- 5.4 Putterill, K.E. & Oberholster, R.E.: 'Investigation of different variables that influence the expansion of concrete cause by alkali-aggregate reaction under natural environmental conditions,' National Building Research Institute, Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Pretoria, South Africa, Report BBR 626, 1985
- 5.5 Kobayashi, K.: 'Load carrying behaviour of concrete structures and members affected by alkali-aggregate reactions : reinforced concrete beams,' *Concrete Journal, Japan Concrete Institute*, 24, 1989, pp 70-78
- 5.6 Baker, M.J.: 'Variations in the strength of structural materials and their effects on structural safety, Section 3.1 Yield stress of reinforcing bar,' Final Report, CIRIA Research Project 72, July 1972
- 5.7 Clayton, N., Currie, R.J. & Moss, R.M.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction on the strength of prestressed concrete beams,' *The Structural Engineer*, 68, No. 15, 7 August 1990, pp 287-292

- 5.8 Ng, K.E.: 'Effect of alkali-silica reaction on the punching shear capacity of reinforced concrete slabs,' PhD Thesis, The University of Birmingham, 1991.
- 5.9 Kawamura, M., Takemoto, K. & Ichise, M.: 'Influences of the alkali-silica reaction on the corrosion of steel reinforcement in concrete, '8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, 1989, pp 115-120
- 5.10 Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'The structural performance of reinforced concrete affected by ASR : Phase I,' TRRL Contractor Report 267, Crowthorne, 1991
- 5.11 Clark, L.A.: 'Critical review of the structural implications of the alkali silica reaction in concrete,' Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Contractor Report 169, 1989
- 5.12 Okada, K., Nishibayashi, S. & Kawamura, M.: Proc. 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July 1989
- 5.13 Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'Bond strength in reinforcement in concrete affected by alkali-silica reaction: Phase II,' Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Contractor Report 233, 1991
- 5.14 Chana, P.S.: 'Bond strength of reinforcement in concrete affected by alkali-silica reaction,' Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Contractor Report 141, Crowthorne, 1989
- 5.15 Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'The structural performance of reinforced concrete affected by ASR: Phase II,' TRRL Contractor Report 311, Crowthorne, 1991
- 5.16 Swamy, R.N. & Al-Asali, M.M.: 'Effect of alkali-silica reaction on the structural behaviour of reinforced concrete beams,' ACI Structural Journal, 86, No.4, July-August 1989, pp 451-459
- 5.17 Rogers, C.A. & Tharmabala, T.: 'Prestressed concrete members affected by alkali-silica reaction,' *Concrete International*, 12, No.8, August 1990, pp 35-39
- 5.18 Cope, R.J. & Slade, L.: 'The shear capacity of reinforced concrete members subjected to ASR,' Structural Engineering Review, 1990, 2, pp 191-201
- 5.19 Inoue, S., Fujii, M., Kobayashi, K. & Nakano, K.: 'Structural behaviours of reinforced concrete beams affected by alkali-silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, 1989, pp 727-732
- 5.20 Fujii, M., Kobayashi, K., Kojima, T. & Maehara, H.: 'The static and dynamic behaviour of reinforced concrete beams with cracking due to alkali-silica reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986
- 5.21 Kobayashi, K., Inoue, S., Yamezaki, T. & Nakano, K.: 'Structural behaviour of prestressed concrete beams affected by alkali-aggregate reaction,' *Transactions of the Japanese Concrete Institute*, 9, 1987, pp 211-218
- 5.22 Kabayshi, S. & Morihama, K.: 'Load carrying behaviour of concrete structures and members affected by alkali-aggregate reactions: reinforced concrete columns,' *Concrete Journal*, *Japanese Concrete Institute*, 24, No. 11, November 1986, pp64-69
- 5.23 Takemura, K., Tazawa, E., Yonekura, A. & Abe, Y.: 'Mechanical characteristics of reinforced concrete column affected by alkali-aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, 1989, pp 665-670
- 5.24 Clark, L.A. & Ng, K.E.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction on the punching shear strength of reinforced concrete slabs,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, 1989, pp 659-664
- 5.25 Okada, K., Tezuka, M., Yoshikawa, T., Himeno, M. & Komada, M.: 'Alkali-aggregate reaction : an investigation on its causes and strength evaluations of materials subject to its effects,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, 1989, pp 609-615
- 5.26 Tepfers, R.A.: 'Cracking of concrete along anchored deformed reinforcing bars,' *Magazine of Concrete Research*, 31, No.106, March 1979, pp 3-12
- 5.27 Reynolds, G.C.: 'Bond strength of deformed bars in tension,' Cement and Concrete Association, Technical Report 42.548 May 1982, p 23
- 5.28 Sims, G.P. & Evans, D.E.: 'Alkali-silica reaction: Kambura spillway, Kenya, case history,' *Proc. ICE*, 1988, pp 1213-1235

PART II: Assessment, appraisal and monitoring of structures

6 Overall consideration of structures

6.1 General

The overall appraisal procedure is illustrated in Figure 10, which also indicates the appropriate sections of this report to which reference should be made at each stage of the appraisal.



Fig. 10 Appraisal leading to diagnosis and action following ASR

6.2 Initial overall evaluation of a structure

Checks specifically for ASR are normally a small part of the early stages of overall assessment of a structure in which unusual cracking has been reported.^{6.1} Only when ASR is diagnosed and found to be significant does it become a major factor.

The following points should be considered when performing an initial desk and site study to establish whether ASR is contributing to cracking:

- · actual stress levels in the structure under principal loadings
- reinforcement detailing
- · environment, including in particular, moisture availability
- condition surveys of cracks and areas of spalling, corrosion and frost damage
- records and recollections of the construction sequence and mix characteristics
- the nature of the cracking should be related to the points above, and the range of possible structural and non-structural forms of cracking in the concrete
- mix and aggregate identification, which can be based on local surface grinding to expose aggregates and evaluation of construction records
- core samples initially a minimum of three cores, preferably 350 mm long and 70 mm diameter, should be taken from members with relatively severe cracking potentially attributable to ASR. To help with diagnosis two end sections 50 mm long from each core can be used for initial petrographic examination, and the 250 mm length for expansion testing and water uptake monitoring as follows:
 - 20°C water supply expansion tests should give an indication of whether the material is significantly expansive or reasonably dimensionally stable. A potential future expansion can be estimated initially from trends at 3 months
 - a simple petrographic examination may be sufficient to indicate if the concrete is of a known reactive type or is clearly not reactive. However, more detailed thin section petrography will be required where the cause of any dimensional instability is not clear. This can be carried out on the expansion test samples at a suitable stage. Petrography should also be used to determine overall mix characteristics and the full range of deterioration processes in the concrete to help identify other non-structural cracking effects.

6.3 Initial checks for structural significance of ASR

6.3.1 General

If the initial overall evaluation indicates that ASR might be one of the contributing factors to cracking then the following initial procedure can be adopted to make a judgement on the potential structural significance of ASR with respect to each particular structural element. As further data become available from the

Table 5 Structural element severity rating

Site	Reinforcement					Expar	ision index				
environment	detailing class (Chapter 8)		1 П		Ш			IV		v	
		-			Conseque	ence of fa	ailure (see su	bsection	6.3.5)		
		Slight	Significant	Slight	Significant	Slight	Significant	Slight	Significant	Slight	Significant
dry	1	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	n
	2	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	n	D
	3	n	n		n	n	n	n	D	D	<u>с</u>
intermediate	1	n	n	n	D	D	С	D	С	D	С
	2	n	n	D	С	D	С	с	С	С	В
	3	n	D	D	В	С	В	В	Α	В	Α
wet	1	D	D	D	С	D	С	С	В	С	В
	2	D	D	с	В	С	В	В	В	В	Α
	3	D	С	с	А	В	А	A	Α	A	Α
		•				-		-			

Structural severity ratings:

n = negligible

D = mild C = moderate

B = severe

A = very severe

structure, the judgement can be refined. The following factors are considered to be those which affect the structural significance of ASR in a particular element:

- expansion characteristics of the concrete.
- site environment.
- · reinforcement detailing
- · consequences of failure
- · stress levels
- residual strength of the concrete (see Chapter 4).

It is emphasised that the above factors are not listed in order of importance. Each factor is assigned a classification as indicated in the following sections.

6.3.2 Expansion index

A concrete with the potential to exhibit a large expansion in the absence of any restraint, i.e. its free expansion, is potentially more damaging than a concrete with a low potential for free expansion.

The current free expansion can be estimated from the structure as explained in subsection 7.3.2. The total future free expansion can be determined by combining the estimated current free expansion with an estimate of the future expansion obtained from cores as explained in subsection 7.3.3. The expansion characteristics of the concrete are then defined in terms of an expansion index in the range I toV which is related to either the estimated current free expansion, for an assessment of the current state of the structure, or to the estimated future total expansion, for an assessment of the future state of the structure.

- I expansion less than 0.6 mm/m
- II expansion of at least 0.6 mm/m but less than 1.0 mm/m
- III expansion of at least 1.0 mm/m but less than 1.5 mm/m
- IV expansion of at least 1.5 mm/m but less than 2.5 mm/m
- V expansion equal to, or greater than 2.5mm/m

6.3.3 Site environment

The potential expansion is achieved only if there is a sufficient supply of water. This effect is taken into account by assessing the environment local to the element (the site environment) to be dry, intermediate or wet. These are broadly equivalent to the BCA report categories of low, medium and high environmental risk. The definitions of these environments are given below:

Dry

- reliably dry, always < 75% r.h.
- currently dry, < 75% r.h. but at risk from change of use or leakage.

Intermediate

- intermediate, always < 85% r.h.
- currently intermediate but at risk from change of use or leakage.

Wet

- all buried parts or those resting against soil
- all external elements in UK climates whether subject to rain or condensation
- internal elements where frequent wetting can occur, e.g. washing, frequent showering, swimming pools, cooking, etc.
- where condensation can occur due to thermal gradients.

The second category listed under the dry and intermediate classifications should be subject to rigorous inspection and maintenance to control their moisture condition.

6.3.4 Reinforcement detailing

The ability of reinforcement to provide restraint to the free expansion is dependent on its detailing. Three classes of detailing are illustrated in Fig. 14 and discussed in Chapter 8.

6.3.5 Consequences of failure

The structural significance of an element is a function of the consequences of its failure. These are judged to be slight or significant as defined below:

- slight the consequences of structural failure are either not serious or are localised to the extent that a serious situation is not anticipated
- significant if there is risk to life and limb or a considerable risk of serious damage to property.

6.3.6 Stress levels

If the stress levels for current non-ASR loadings are low when determined using the Institution of Structural Engineers procedures for assessing structures^{6.2} or the Department of Transport's procedures for assessing highway structures, ^{6.3,6.4} then the structural significance of ASR is less than if the stress levels are high. The way in which the non-ASR stress level affects the structural severity is discussed in section 6.4.

6.3.7 Residual strength of concrete

For initial appraisal the reduction factors in Table 4 should be used with the specified 28 day strength or the characteristic 28 day value from the original cube data if available. In cases of severe damage or high stress, actual strength should be obtained from cores. Where possible at least twelve cores should be taken; four from badly damaged regions; four from moderately damaged regions; and four from undamaged regions for tensile or unaxial compressive strength tests as appropriate to the potential mode of failure.

6.4 Initial structural severity rating

The classifications of expansion index, site environment, reinforcement detail and consequences of failure are combined by means of Table 5 to give an overall Initial Structural Severity Rating for each element as one of Negligible (n), Mild (D), Moderate (C), Severe (B) and Very Severe (A).

Stress level is taken into account by decreasing the rating by one, e.g. from A to B if the non-ASR stress level is less than 60% of the allowable, and by increasing the rating by one, e.g. C to B if the non-ASR stress level exceeds the allowable.

It is emphasised that engineering judgement must be used to interpolate between classifications when using Table 5. The rating obtained from Table 5 should be reviewed as more data become available.

6.5 Development of detailed evaluation of structural elements and overall behaviour

The wide variety of structural forms and severity of effects of the reaction make generalised recommendations for detailed evaluation inappropriate. The initial evaluation will normally classify 90% of the structures in the Negligible (n) or Mild (D) categories and only a few critical details will be in the Severe (B) or Very Severe (A) categories. Sometimes it will be quicker and

cheaper to strengthen to improve a poor detail than to fully evaluate the current and future risks from ASR.

The detailed evaluation is concentrated on the critical details, but representative sampling for testing will often be based on lower stressed non-critical areas with similar deterioration.

The initial evaluation as in 6.2 can be progressively upgraded by:

- quantitative evaluation of structural behaviour using the approach summarised in Chapters 4 and 5, initially with the Table 4 lower bound physical properties and then data from tests on the structure.
- a more detailed evaluation of the risks and consequences of potential failure modes including spalling.
- insitu r.h. measurements and evaluation of methods of reducing the amount and/or rate of water ingress.
- · refining the expansion to date estimates from
 - crack evaluation
 - · consideration of stresses
 - · restraint effects

related to stiffness characteristics from cores and/or UPV measurements.

- testing a more comprehensive set of cores which would be taken from areas with a range of crack severities for stiffness, UPV, expansion tests, petrographic and analytical tests and strength tests related to the specific failure modes to be evaluated. This would provide data on current and future physical characteristics for assessment of current and potential future margins of safety and the rate at which further damage may develop.
- monitoring the trends of crack movement and overall movement of the structure. Once data are available for a two year period, the current rate of deterioration can be estimated and can be progressively reviewed thereafter.
- tests of restrained expansion of samples removed from structures or measurements of the locked in stresses in the concrete or reinforcement can provide data for the appraisal of specific structures where the available budget and the timescale for testing make this possible.

References

- 6.1 Turton, C.D. (Chairman): Non structural cracking of concrete, Report of Working Party, Concrete Society Technical Report 22, Slough, 1992
- 6.2 Appraisal of existing structures, Institution of Structural Engineers, London, July 1980 (currently under revision)
- 6.3 Departmental Advice Note BA 44/90 The use of Departmental Standard BD 44/90 for the assessment of concrete highway bridges and structures, Department of Transport, 1990
- 6.4 Departmental Standard BD 44/90 The assessment of concrete highway bridges and structures, Department of Transport, 1990

7 Diagnosis and assessment of expansion and cracking

7.1 Diagnosis

The BCA Working Party Report^{7.1} recommends available techniques for diagnosis. Unless ASR induces free expansions of 0.6 mm/m it cannot be regarded as damaging, except in large mass concrete structures such as dams. Thus the criteria for differentiating between damaging ASR which might influence structural performance from innocuous ASR which will show up in petrography are:

- cracking attributable to ASR indicating at least 0.6 mm/m expansion
- a reduction in core UPV (see Table 3)
- core stiffness reduction indicative of 0.5 mm/m expansion (see Table 4)
- expansion of cores from wet or intermediate environments exceeding 0.6 mm/m in long term expansion tests
- test results indicating potential future expansion which will in total exceed 0.6 mm/m.

7.2 Testing

7.2.1 General

Table 6 attempts to bring together tests outlined in the BCA report and this report. It also gives guidance on the relative usefulness of the tests. The type and amount of testing will depend on the severity of the ASR damage, as summarised in Table 7. The tests shown in Table 6 may also help to evaluate the contribution of other non-structural cracking that may co-exist with ASR.

The methods of sampling, testing procedures and interpretation are still under active development and further research is required. The Engineer should review new developments when selecting a testing programme for a specific structure.

7.2.2 Sampling

The diversity of mix characteristics as well as the range of damage and environment must be reflected in the sampling rate. At least three cores from the worst cracked areas of a structure are needed for preliminary tests. For more extensive appraisal, three to five cores should be obtained from each pour to be tested so that the variability of characteristics is established. Individual cores cannot give representative results. Further guidance is given in appendix A.

7.2.3 Expansion tests

These tests measure the average expansion and variability of expansion of concrete cores over a period of months or years. Normal concretes show a little expansion, typically 0.2 mm/m, from recovery of drying shrinkage. ASR-affected concretes expand more, and the potential severity of future damage to the concrete can be assessed from the long term trends of expansion. Because of the high variability of expansions in cores, even from one pour of concrete, the expansion for estimation of structural effects should be based on the greatest average value for the most expansive of up to four cores from different pours of the same aggregate and cement combination. Where a fuller set of cores is taken, the upper quartile value of expansion should be used for assessment. The core locations should be selected to cover the range of cracking from the most severely cracked to uncracked for that mix, in broadly similar conditions of exposure to moisture.

There is no definitive relationship as yet between the unrestrained expansion of a core and the restrained expansion within a structural member.

7.2.4 Strength tests

Measurement of loss of concrete strength with ASR is complicated by the high variability of the effects of ASR, which are superimposed on the normal variability of concrete. For further details, see Table 6 and appendix A.

7.2.5 Chemical analyses

Chemical analysis of samples of the concrete may be useful where structures are in the very severe (A) or severe (B) structural severity ratings to determine the range of alkali and cement contents in the concrete at the time of testing.^{7.1} Sampling and analysis is, however, imprecise. One must also consider the potential non-cementitious sources of alkali, both within the original mix and from ingress. For example, checks can be made for chlorides associated with the use of de-icing salts. Sampling and analysis also needs to determine migration of alkalis by measuring profiles where appropriate.

7.3 Assessment of expansion

7.3.1 General

It is necessary to estimate the two components of expansion separately to asssess the total expansion : first, the expansion that has occurred up to the time of the investigation (current expansion); and second, the potential for future additional expansion that will have occurred when ASR is exhausted (potential additional expansion). The relationship between current and potential additional expansion is illustrated on Fig.11. It should be noted that, in Chapter 8, structural appraisal is considered in terms of levels of severity of estimated free expansion of cores, not of the restrained expansion of the structure.

7.3.2 Estimated current expansion

Determination of the current expansion is difficult, and normally can be made omly indirectly because of the absence of datum measurements. The Task Group found some difficulty in proposing a suitable method. However, test data^{7.2,7.3,7.4} indicate that crack summation is the most useful method for initial appraisal and laboratory comparisons have enabled some correlation to be established.

The proposed method of obtaining a rough indication of the expansion in the structure is by measuring the widths of all the cracks crossed by a straight line drawn on the concrete. It is recommended that at least five lines be drawn, not less than 1 m long, with at least 250 mm between them, in a direction perpendicular to the principal crack orientation on the most severely affected face of each pour of concrete being assessed. Where the dimensions of the concrete dictate line lengths of less than 1 m, more lines should be used. The preferred method of crack width measurement is by means of a crack microscope. A transparent crack comparator is difficult to use accurately for crack widths less than about 0.2 mm.

The expansion strain, together with the strains from other causes, can be assumed to equal the sum of the widths of the cracks divided by the length of the line drawn on the concrete,

Table 6 Laboratory tests on cores for diagnostic and structural investigation of ASR

•...

Test	Purpose	Use and imp	ortance of test r	esults
		Diagnosis of ASR	Prognosis	Structural assessment
Preliminary laboratory examination	Record of samples taken on site. Look for signs of possible ASR, and highlight areas for more detailed laboratory investigations.	***	***	00
Examination of sawn, finely ground and impregnated sections	Look for evidence of ASR and assess internal crack patterns. Areas for more detailed examination, e.g. by use of thin sections can be highlighted.	***	*	
Measurements such as length, widths and frequency of cracks	Assists in quantification of the damage and its severity.	*	*	Ð
Volumetric proportions	Quantify selected constituents of the concrete. Useful for quantifying amounts of reacted and/or potentially reactive aggregates.	*	**	-
Examinations of thin sections	Identify reacted and potentially reactive aggregate. Confirm the presence of any alkali-silica gel and reaction sites, to observe the extent and configuration of related cracking.	***	*	Ð
Determination of alkali content in concrete	Assess alkali levels within the concrete in order to consider the sources of alkalis and the possibility of local concentration.	**	*	-
Determination of cement content	Assist in estimating the original alkali content of the concrete.	*	*	-
Determination of chloride content	Used in conjunction with the determination of alkali content to infer the possible contribution of sodium chloride to the alkali content of the concrete.	-	*	Ð
Examination of excudations and crystalline material	Identify exudations and crystalline material e.g. to identify the presence of alkali-silica gel.	***	*	-
Diagnostic expansion testing (38°C)	Assist in diagnosis and in assessing the potential for further expansion.	**	***	Ð
Alkali-immersion test	Assists in the identification of reactive aggregates.	*	-	
Expansion testing	Determine potential for expansion in site conditions of temperature range, moisture and restraint.	-	-	DD
UPV	A simple measure of micro-cracking damage.	-		00
Uniaxial compressive	To quantify compressive strength.	-	-	Ð
Tensile strength	To quantify tensile strength.	-	-	Ð
Stiffness	A sensitive measure of physical effect of micro-cracking, which can be related to expansion to date.	-		Ð

Tests discussed in The diagnosis of ASR, 7.1 BCA, 2nd ed.

- *** Important test.
- ** Do when possible.

* Results could be useful if tests can be done.

Tests discussed in this report

⊕⊕ This test is useful for initial assessment, and can be used more extensively for more detailed appraisal.

 \oplus Tests useful for more extensive appraisal.

: •



Fig. 11 Definitions of various free expansions

hence the current total strain equals the sum of widths divided by length, expressed in mm/m.

It is important to appreciate that the strain, thus calculated, is the algebraic sum of the strains arising from structural and non-structural effects in addition to the ASR strain. These other strains should be subtracted from the total strain to give the ASR strain. Furthermore the ASR component is not usually the free expansion that would have occurred in cylinders or cores, since it is generally restrained by the presence of reinforcement and/or applied stress, as discussed in Chapter 5. Fig. 7(a) can be used as a guide to the relationship between restrained and free expansion.

If possible lines of crack width measurement should be drawn in regions where the concrete is not strained by effects other than ASR so as to minimise the required adjustments to the calculated strain.

The proposed expression for total strain gives an average fit to scattered test data. The actual strain may vary by \pm 50% from the calculated value. This compares with the \pm 30% accuracy of the formula for flexural crack widths given in Codes of Practice.^{7.5}

7.3.3 Potential additional expansion

The potential maximum additional free expansion that may occur in a structure once the reaction is exhausted may be estimated from free expansion tests on cores taken from the structure. The 38°C conditions for the expansion tests recommended by the BCA^{7.1} may not be the most representative environment for predicting long term trends or the maximum potential expansion in the structure.

It is important to relate all expansion test results to weight uptake from water drawn into the sample during the test. Where a core is relatively dry before the test, the recovery of reversible drying shrinkage will increase the core expansion. Where the core absorbs more than 15g/kg of water this should be checked and corrected for as described in appendix A.

For structural assessment expansion tests, it is necessary to model the conditions in the structure as closely as possible and relate this to the monitoring of the structure (see Chapter 10). For example, typical UK mean seasonal temperatures are 5°C (Winter), 20°C (Summer) and 13°C (Annual). Alternatively, laboratory temperature (generally 20°C \pm 5°C) can be accepted. There are indications that, with some aggregates, the expansions over periods exceeding one year at 13°C to 20°C are substantially higher than in the 38°C rapid diagnostic test in which expansions start rapidly and then decrease after a month or so. This is shown in Fig. 12 from reference 7.6 for aggregates from southwest England, e.g. coarse limestone combined with sea dredged fines containing chert. It is not known if this occurs with other aggregates.

With many tests, long term expansions continue at a slow rate so it is not possible to define a limit of expansion. However, in the structure the expansion will develop at a rate controlled by the reactivity of the material, the moisture supply and the restraint.

The expansion of a core is also dependent on the restraint that was experienced by the core in the structure and which is relieved on extraction of the core. The greater its previous restraint, the greater is its subsequent expansion. Hence, the additional free expansion estimated from cores can be an over-estimate of the total free expansion of the concrete.

7.3.4 Estimated long term expansion

While the short term laboratory expansion tests are in progress, cores should be placed in their site environment adjacent to the structure and the results compared. The site tests are more likely to be reliable in the long term. By plotting expansion against log time for both tests the slowing down of the reaction due to its partial exhaustion may become apparent. The use of steel control plates with the cores to monitor Demec gauge wear is desirable during monitoring over a period of years. Long term field measurements of structural deformation will also provide information for assessment of long term expansion.



Fig. 12 Core expansion at 100% r.h. and different temperatures, aggregate from southwest England

References

- 7.1 Palmer, D. (Chairman): The diagnosis of alkali-silica reaction, Report of Working Party, 2nd edition, British Cement Association, Slough, 1992
- 7.2 Ng, K.E.: 'Effect of alkali-silica reaction on the punching shear capacity of reinforced concrete slabs,' PhD Thesis, The University of Birmingham, 1991
- 7.3 Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'Structural performance of reinforced concrete affected by alkali silica reaction: Phase II,'

Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Contractor Report 311, 1992

- 7.4 Nishibayashi, S., Yamura, K. & Sakata, K.: 'Evaluation of cracking of concrete due to alkali-aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July 1989, pp 759-764
- 7.5 Beeby, A.W.: 'An investigation of cracking in slabs spanning one way,' Cement & Concrete Association, April 1970
- 7.6 Report on full appraisal and recommendations for future management of Marsh Mills viaduct, Vol. 2, Appendices, Mott, Hay & Anderson, Department of Transport, SWRO, March 1986

8 Appraisal of structural strength

8.1 General

Since current information is incomplete in a number of areas, some of the recommendations that are given below may later need revision. At this stage, the general advice given is, of necessity, cautious, and it should be emphasised that many structures with expansions in excess of 1.0 mm/m have been satisfactorily retained in service throughout the world with, to date, only a few cases of additional strengthening being deemed necessary. Fig. 13 provides a scale for comparison of structural strains and two examples of estimated free expansion strains from ASR.



Fig. 13 Comparison of structural and ASR strains

Two structural appraisals are usually required: one based on the current condition of the structure; and one based on the estimated condition of the structure at some specified time in the future. In the following subsections, guidance is given on structural appraisal in terms of five levels of severity of the total ASR free expansion that is estimated to have occurred (or is predicted to occur) at the time of interest (i.e. either now or at some specified time in the future), and which have been described in section 7.3. The five levels of expansion are related to three classes of reinforcement detailing:

- Class 1: a 3-dimensional cage of very well anchored reinforcement
- Class 2: a 3-dimensional cage of conventionally anchored reinforcement
- Class 3: a 2-dimensional cage of reinforcement in one or two faces; no through ties, no links or low cover.

Examples of these Classes for a wall are shown in Fig.14a. If turned through 90°, these three diagrams also illustrate the Classes for the reinforcement at the edge of a slab, or end of a beam. Fig.14b shows comparable classes for columns.



Fig. 14a Detailing classes for walls and slabs



Fig. 14b Detailing classes for columns

Generally, the efficiency of reinforcement in maintaining the integrity of a structure depends on the degree of containment it provides to the differential expansion. Parts of the structure with reinforcement of Class 1 or 2 that are moderately stressed by dead and imposed loading will be slightly affected only even by fairly severe ASR expansions, whereas a similar degree of expansion in parts of a structure with Class 3 reinforcement may produce severe structural effects, regardless of the loading.



Fig. 15 Sensitive details showing potential crack positions

.1

8.2 Expansion indices

8.2.1 Expansion index I

Expansions of the order of 0.4 mm/m occur in normal concrete, and are of no concern even if ASR has been identified petrographically.

Provided that the structure has been properly designed and has reinforcement corresponding with Class 1 or Class 2, ASR expansions up to 0.6 mm/m will affect the strength only marginally, and any shortfall in structural strength may be assumed to be covered adequately by the normal safety factors. Details that are outside accepted good practice should be assessed for adequacy in accordance with normal assessment procedures,^{8,1,8,2} and no specific action need be taken in respect of ASR. If surface cracks exceed 0.3 mm, local problems associated with detailing may arise and the risk of corrosion increases. However, such crack widths are unlikely to be caused by ASR expansions within the above limit. Large lightly reinforced mass concrete structures such as dams may need more detailed consideration.

8.2.2 Expansion index II

Expansion in the range 0.6 mm/m to 1.0 mm/m does not affect the compressive strength of the concrete significantly. The behaviour of members in bending and compression may, therefore, be taken as adequate. The reductions in concrete tensile strength (see Chapter 4) may adversely affect behaviour in shear and bond, although, provided the structure is detailed as Class 1, any shortfall may, again, be assumed to be covered by the normal safety factors. However, Class 2 or Class 3 detailing must be assessed with care. Examples of details that are particularly sensitive to the effects of ASR are shown in Fig. 15.

8.2.3 Expansion index III

For structures with expansion in this class, a detailed appraisal will be necessary, with consideration of potential reductions in bending and compression capacities as well as of shear and bond following procedures described in Chapter 5. Although Danish^{8.3} and Japanese tests^{8.4} have indicated increases in shear strength of ASR-affected beams, a prudent approach to shear is suggested. This is because the majority of the Japanese beams that failed in shear had good end anchorage to the main reinforcement and the overall percentage of steel was often greater than in the UK to deal with possible seismic loading. However, it should be noted that excellent behaviour in shear has been observed with end anchorages as small as 3.4 bar diameters.

A pro rata reduction in strength should be taken in proportion to the reduction in bond tensile strength (see section 5.3). This reduction is conservative where links pass outside or around the main bars, but specific guidance on the contribution from links still has to be derived.

Class 2 or 3 details of the type indicated in Fig.15 will be at even greater risk in this range of expansion. Also, there are likely to be general surface cracks in excess of the conventional 0.3 mm limit. In view of this, consideration should be given to discounting the contribution to strength of the cover concrete, which may be affected by such cracks. Particularly severe local problems associated with corrosion and frost action may arise if individual cracks exceed 1 mm in width, unless the affected element can be protected from water ingress, driving rain and condensation. Thus the supply of water through failed joints in cases (a), (c) and (d) of Fig. 15, a high water table in case (b) or driving rain in case (e) will exacerbate the problems.

8.2.4 Expansion index IV

For expansion of this order, a detailed insitu appraisal is required. The comments of subsection 8.2.3 are applicable. For well detailed structures, the main reinforcement will reduce free expansions in this range. However, secondary reinforcement is not likely to be of a sufficient area to reduce the free expansion below its yield strain.

8.2.5 Expansion index V

Each structure will have to be the subject of special study, testing, appraisal and monitoring, which might include load testing. In the absence of transverse reinforcement, large continuous cracks parallel to the main reinforcement are often noted. These cracks can form along the reinforcement resulting in subdivision of the concrete and corrosion of the reinforcement. Internal delamination arising from differential restraint has also been noted in slabs and walls without reinforcement normal to their major surfaces. Such cracking could reduce shear and bond strength, but test data reviewed in Chapter 5 can be used to estimate the extent of the reduction. Where the calculated shear and bond stresses are close to or above code permissible values, as outlined in BS 8110 : 1985 and BS 5400 : Part 4 : 1990, specialist advice should be sought.

References

- 8.1 Appraisal of existing structures, Institution of Structural Engineers, July 1980, London (currently under revision)
- 8.2 The assessment of highway bridges and structures, Department of Transport standard BD 44/90, October 1990, and advice note BA 44/90, October 1990
- 8.3 Load carrying capacity of bridges subjected to alkali-silica reactions, Interim report no. 1: The shear strength of concrete beams subject to alkali-silica reactions, Danish Ministry of Transport, July 1986
- 8.4 ASR in Japan: report of a mission team, Cement & Concrete Association, Slough, June 1987

9 Appraisal of structural serviceability

9.1 Cracking and corrosion in reinforced concrete

The relationship between cracking and corrosion in ASR-affected concrete is not clear; reliance cannot therefore be placed on existing practice. ASR cracking can be unsightly and the fact that cracking continues to develop over years means that concern may be repeatedly raised by users. In some structures severe ASR cracking has led to secondary damage from corrosion.

Many structures affected by ASR may be subject to severe or very severe exposure conditions. Current codes are more stringent than previous practice in these exposure circumstances. Where the concrete quality and the cover comply with current codes of practice and surface crack widths do not exceed 0.3 mm, it is reasonable to assume that the effect of ASR on corrosion rates should not be significant. When cracks wider than 0.3 mm develop and there is a plentiful supply of water, calcium hydroxide can leach out, giving unsightly staining at later stages. Such staining also occurs with cracking due to reasons other than ASR.

If any one of these conditions is not satisfied, an investigation into the actual and potential corrosion should be made.^{9,1} Specialist petrographic techniques enable the ingress of carbonation and chlorides down cracks to be measured. This ingress is significant only where corrosion is initiated by cracks running generally along the line of the reinforcement and these are therefore particularly likely to corrode the reinforcement. The largest cracks are likely to occur in damp conditions.

Special note should be taken where the atmosphere is both damp and aggressive, as in marine or industrial environments or those exposed to road salt. Cracks unlikely to exceed 0.3 mm wide may not be serious but should be kept under observation. Where a structure is particularly sensitive, typical cracks should be sampled and petrographically examined. An approximate correlation between crack width and depth is shown in Fig. 5.

With wide cracks the possibility of pieces of surface concrete falling away can arise due to the combination of ASR, corrosion in the underlying reinforcement and frost action.

9.2 Cracking and corrosion in prestressed concrete

Because of the greater vulnerability of prestressing steel to corrosion, current design practice is either to design for no surface cracks in tendon regions, or to allow them to open only briefly under transient load. If cracks penetrate to tendons, there will be a risk of corrosion. Even slight corrosion of tendons is a matter for concern. ASR cracks in prestressed members will generally be longitudinal.

It follows that an investigation for corrosion will generally be required on all prestressed structures affected by ASR. A detailed investigation should however not be necessary where surface crack widths are less than 0.15 mm since such cracks are unlikely to penetrate to the tendons, and where in addition the concrete cover and quality comply with the requirements in current codes of practice.

9.3 Deformations in structural members

Flexural deformations in beams and slabs will tend to be in the direction opposite to that caused by load and should not be a cause for concern with expansions up to 1.0 mm/m.

In respect of overall expansion of members, the normal provisions for movement and expansion should cater for expansions up to 0.5 mm/m. Beyond this point, the consequences of expansion should be assessed, but it should be noted that estimated expansions from cores do not allow for the restraining effects of reinforcement.

9.4 Deformations in mass concrete

Even modest expansions will, in large structures such as dams and bridge piers, lead to substantial overall movements which can seriously affect adjoining parts of the structure or machinery incorporated within or bolted to the mass. Such situations therefore require special investigation.

9.5 Frost resistance

The formation of micro- and macro-cracks has raised doubts about the resistance to freezing and thawing of concrete affected by ASR. Unpublished laboratory studies on concrete specimens kept moist throughout their life have shown that freeze-thaw resistance is reduced by ASR cracking. There are differences of opinion regarding the effect of ASR expansion upon freeze-thaw resistance of field concretes. Where serviceability of the structure is in doubt, the interaction should be evaluated both petrographically and by freeze-thaw tests.

Horizontal exposed surfaces may be at risk, particularly if water can pond on the surface. Vertical surfaces can also be at risk if water can flow over the surface for long enough periods for the concrete to become saturated so that water freezes in ASR cracks. Where ASR has caused cracking, precautions against the effects of frost may be required.

9.6 Effect on fire resistance

While resistance to fire will rarely be a design requirement for most structures likely to be affected by ASR, it may be assumed that no reduction in performance will occur for expansions up to 1.0 mm/m. It may be helpful to note in this connection that the unrestrained overall expansions in structural members in actual fire conditions are often in excess of 1.0 mm/m.

Reference

9.1 Pullar-Strecker, P: Corrosion damaged concrete - assessment and repair, CIRIA, 1987

10 Management of ASR affected structures

10.1 Management procedures

10.1.1 General

In addition to other requirements, it is recommended that structural analyses be carried out to determine whether the effect of the ASR has been or will be to weaken the structure significantly and if so in what circumstances and over what time-scale. Examples exist of structures with a reserve of strength that is so large that this factor alone dominates the management procedure adopted for the structure. The approach to structural management should be guided by the factors outlined in the following paragraphs, summarised in Table 7.

Where it is necessary to reduce the access of water to the structure, this may be effected by improved drainage, cladding or coatings. Although coatings such as silanes, and epoxies are highly regarded by the Japanese, their reception in the UK has been less enthusiastic. Particular care in the use of coatings should be taken to ensure that sufficient areas of the structure are treated to avoid a tanking effect.

The effect of ASR on a large structure such as a dam or a power station is often likely to cause difficulties with the operation of electrical or mechanical plant as a result of the concrete expansion. Among the measures that have been suggested^{10.1,10.2} in an attempt to control these effects are:

- large struts or buttresses to resist compressive loads
- large prestressed anchors
- · cutting of slots to relieve compressive load
- injections of carbon dioxide into the concrete mass to neutralise the pore fluid
- waterproofing of the surface of the concrete

Experience suggests that where it can be accommodated within the structure, the solution of cutting slots in the concrete has been effective in isolating the swelling concrete from the vulnerable installed equipment.

10.1.2 Management of structures with a severity rating of 'mild' (D)

At this severity rating it is appropriate to install simple instruments, probably Demec gauge points across selected cracks at a few typical locations.

It may be informative to install Demec points in a triangular formation where shear movement along cracks needs to be checked. Alternatively, where appropriate, it may also be useful to consider overall movement monitoring. Readings should be taken in accordance with the frequencies in Table 7.

Cores taken from the structure can, if appropriate, be placed under test in the laboratory, and such testing should continue until a long-term trend is established, probably after a minimum of two years of testing. The data from laboratory and field measurements should be compared annually.

Consideration should be given to reducing the access of water to the structure where this is practicable. Inspections as stated in Table 7 may be varied depending on the observations made during the reading of the instruments.

10.1.3 Management of structures with a severity rating of 'moderate' (C)

Inspections every four months should be appropriate. Monitoring of cracks is likely to be necessary together with more detailed instrumentation and the laboratory testing of cores taken from the structure. Comparison of field and laboratory data should be made to assess the long term trend. The access of water to the structure should be reduced where possible.

10.1.4 Management of structures with a severity rating of 'severe' (B)

At this severity rating, inspections at the intervals outlined in Table 7 are likely to be appropriate. Full investigation of the structural detailing should be carried out, and remedial or strengthening work may be needed. Load restriction may be necessary. Extensive and carefully planned instrumentation is appropriate. Comparison of field and laboratory data should be made every two months. Load testing may be useful.

10.1.5 Management of structures with a severity rating of 'very severe' (A)

A structure in a condition that merits a 'very severe' rating must be the subject of detailed, specialist study, which may include load testing. Measures may be required to reduce the rate of deterioration from the reaction. (See also section 6.3.)

10.2 Inspections

Regular inspections must be carried out by experienced personnel, who should record salient details. Methods can range from writing or recording notes, making sketches or taking photographs through to carrying out representative crack surveys on proformas using a portable micro-computer for processing. Good advice on inspections is given in references 10.3 to 10.7.

Inspection procedures for structures with ASR need to be drawn up considering the Severity Rating of each part of the structure.

The key questions to be answered by inspection are:

- Are there any indications of overall movement which may have adversely affected the performance of the structure, e.g. expansion joints, distortion of adjacent structures or equipment?
- Are there areas where protection of the structure from water can be improved by preventing ponding or water running across the surface, e.g. below leaking expansion joints on bridges, poor condition flat roofs, blocked drains etc.? Monitoring should also review the effectiveness of measures to exclude water from the structure
- Are there new areas of cracking or a significant increase in severity?
- What changes are there in the trends in the monitored movements for cracks and the structure?
- Are there signs of developing secondary deterioration from frost or corrosion which need attention, particularly where spalling would create a hazard?
- What movements have occured in cores from the structure exposed adjacent to, or in similar conditions to the structure?

Based on this data, together with an update of laboratory test data, the current conditions and reserves of strength should be assessed along with a revised estimate of the potential for further expansion and its structural implications with a revised severity rating.

10.3 Instrumentation

Instruments are applied to a structure suffering from ASR to record the movement of the structure as a result of the reaction. Instruments that have proved useful for this purpose include the following:

Table 7 Management actions related to structural element severity rating

I

Summarised management procedure	Structural severity rating (see Table 5)									
	Α	В	С	D						
Improve drainage and protect surfaces from water run off and ponding.			1 1	11						
Overall crack surveys including estimate of expansion to date.			J J	11						
Frequency, Years	1	1	3	6						
Coring for stiffness and expansion tests for current and future expansion estimates.	11		1 1	1						
Coring for stiffness and strength tests to evaluate specific failure mode.	11		1	x						
Evaluate benefits of load reduction, strengthening to improve detail class or replacement of critical elements.	11	J J	1	x						
Detailed inspections and monitoring of cracks and, where important, overall movements.				J J*						
long term frequency, months Note: inspect twice as often for first 6 readings. * one set at a sample location on a	1	2	4	12						
structure only.										
Inspection for spalling risk from secondary corrosion and frost damage.			11							
Frequency, months	3	6	12	12						

Key: X Seldom required ✓ May be required ✓ ✓ Desirable

- Demec gauges or other devices to measure crack movement
- tapes and tape extensometers, monitoring pins and micrometers or chains of Demec gauge points to measure overall length changes over several metres
- tapes or survey instruments to measure the differential movements at joints
- borehole extensioneters to determine the location, within massive concrete, of movement
- inclinometers
- a remote monitoring system may be useful as may datalogging equipment, particularly where access is difficult.

10.4 Monitoring of ASR deterioration in structures

The development of alkali-silica reaction in structures and the expansion which is sometimes induced is generally substantially slower than in the laboratory. Laboratory monitoring of expansion rates on cores, as discussed in appendix A, at lower temperatures or with more limited moisture availability, or site exposure and monitoring on site, can provide an intermediate link between accelerated laboratory test methods and site performance. The rate of expansion depends on both the temperature and the availability of moisture and the rate at which

moisture migrates into large structural elements, all of which can vary widely within a structure. There are also substantial differences in the expansive potential and rate within similar parts of a structure nominally all built with the same mix. Some pours may show no apparent damage while others may be severely damaged by cracking. The general principle for managing structures must be that measured structural behaviour on site provides the best indication of rates of deterioration and when the rate of ASR damage is slowing.

10.5 Monitoring of changes

The effects of ASR can be measured indirectly by:

- overall movement of structural members either absolutely or as a differential between adjacent members
- overall surveys recording the extent of uncracked and cracked areas
- the monitoring of the change in widths of cracks in selected areas
- measuring the strains in the concrete over chains of typically 5 to 15 gauge lengths of 200 mm
- · measuring reinforcement strains
- changes in pulse velocity in the concrete (however, the interpretation of the data is complicated by the presence of reinforcement).





Examples of methods used are:

- · movements relative to inverted pendulums
- the measurement of change in stress in inserted reinforcement^{10.8,10.9}
- expansion measurement on long lengths
- measurement of concrete across cracks and uncracked lengths
- measurements at expansion joints
- measurements of distortion ^{10.10,10,11}
- sonic velocity detection. ^{10.8,10.9}

10.6 Crack and movement monitoring

Fig. 16 shows how cracks and movements on a structure can be monitored. The technique adopted needs to be tailored to the structure and the following points need particular attention:

- All structures have sizeable temperature, moisture, shrinkage and swelling movements regardless of ASR. These will change both overall lengths and crack widths and must be determined and compensated. Annual cycles of concrete drying shrinkage and recovery of 0.3 mm/m are common. This compares to field ASR-affected concrete free expansion rates of typically 0.05 to 0.2 mm/m per year (i.e., giving 0.5 mm/m to 2.0 mm/m in 10 years). Fig. 17 shows a typical long term record of strain and crack movement for which no compensation for moisture or temperature has been made. The strain recorded in Fig. 17 is adjacent to and parallel to the crack.
- All measuring gauges are subject to changes in length, wear and tear and potential vandalism so sufficient robustness, durability and long term stability and/or recalibration is essential.
- The difference in temperature between metallic surface gauges and the more stable thermal conditions of the interior of the concrete can create substantial apparent strains which must be allowed for.

• Except in the most severe cases with rapid movement, it is normally difficult to differentiate changes in crack width due to ASR from the seasonal effects in less than 2 years monitoring. For measurements of overall expansion a longer period is required.

It is essential that a comprehensive set of predictable reference lengths is maintained to check and quantify normal strains and any instrumentation changes. Steel plates, which follow thermal changes, can be firmly attached to the structure, but not restrained, and used to supplement the standard Invar reference lengths for Demec or similar gauges. Preferably some parallel instrumentation should be fitted to similar adjacent pours of uncracked concrete of the ASR mix and to an adjacent structure with normal non-reactive concrete to provide a reference. Demec gauges may be arranged either as straight chains typically of 5 to 15 gauge lengths of 200 mm or as triples (triangles) of 50 mm gauge lengths which enable the crack opening and shear to be measured and the uncracked base length to be used for correcting crack movement for moisture, temperature and ASR strains. Fig. 17 is an example showing that some cracks will open for a period of years then become stable or vice versa. In instrumenting one location it is advisable to use an array of not less than 20 gauge lengths on one pour of concrete because of the very high variability of movements encountered. Normally this should cover a range of crack widths from the finest to the widest. It provides a useful correlation with the procedures referred to in subsection 7.3.2 if Demec gauges are fitted to cracks on the same lines chosen to measure crack widths for crack summation.

Overall movements on large structures may be recorded using a slide gauge or by measuring the movement across expansion joints using micrometer or Vernier gauge between stainless steel pins. On some structures with large steel members the differential movements may be recorded relative to the steel. When monitoring cracks, the following will be found useful:

 It is important to log the absence of cracks so that there is a positive reference should some be found to develop later, as well as changes in their extent and width. Crack width gauges and microscopes can be used to record crack width at specific locations for crack summation for estimating expansion to date but are not sensitive enough to detect



Fig. 17 Examples of concrete strain and corresponding crack movements for adjacent Demec triplets

crack growth rates except over periods of 5 to 10 years on the more severely reactive structures.

- Changes in crack geometry may provide warning of developing damage. Particular note must be made of cracks and the orientation of cracking relative to structural stress fields and reinforcement in sensitive structural elements for use in structural assessment.
- The exact locations for measurement must be clearly marked on the structure and fully described so that remeasurement by different personnel is simplified.
- A clear numbering system and a plotting proforma are essential for the consistent recording of data over a long period.
- Monitoring should also include the recording of deformations, movements and clearances at joints.

The suggested frequency of monitoring depends on the structural severity rating as discussed above and summarised in Table 5 (Chapter 6) and Table 7.

References

10.1 Hayward, D.G., Thompson, G.A., Charlwood, R.G. & Steel, R.R.: 'Remedial measures at the Metaquac Generating Station,' Q65 R47, Int. Congress on Large Dams, Vienna, 1991

- 10.2 Cavalcanti, A.J.C.T, Silvera, J.F.A. & Degaspare, J.C.: 'Alkali-silica reaction and remedial measures at Moxoto Powerplant,' Q65 R8, Int. Congress on Large Dams, Vienna, 1991
- 10.3 Appraisal of existing structures, Institution of Structural Engineers, London, July 1980 (currently under revision)
- 10.4 Inspection and records of highway structures, Departmental standard TRMM 2/88, Department of Transport, March 1988
- 10.5 Bridge inspection guide, HMSO, London 1983
- 10.6 Wood, J.G.M., Johnson, A., & Norris, P.: 'Management strategies for buildings and bridges subject to degradation from alkali aggregate reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986
- 10.7 Bridge inspection, OECD, 1976
- 10.8 Coombes, L.H., Cole, R.G. & Clarke, R.M.: 'Remedial measures to Val de la Mare Dam,' BNCOLD Symposium, September 1975
- 10.9 Cole, R.G. & Horswill, P.: 'Val de la Mare Dam, Jersey, sixteen years of ASR experience,' BNCOLD meeting, 8 October 1987
- 10.10 Sims, G.P.: 'Kamburu spillway a case study,' BNCOLD meeting, 8 October 1987.
- 10.11 Sims, G.P. & Evans, D.E.: 'Alkali-silica reaction: Kamburu spillway, Kenya, case history,' Proc.Instn. Civ. Engrs, 1988, pp 1213-1235.

Part III 11 Research needs

The Task Group believes the following areas of research should have priority. The research must achieve not only a better understanding of the problem, but also more cost effective diagnosis, appraisal, management and repair of affected structures. The focus of research should now switch from well detailed structures to those less well detailed and also indicate whether structures with little or no reinforcement, such as dams and foundations, prove sensitive to lower levels of expansion than is tolerable in normal reinforced concrete. The following should be addressed using desk, laboratory and field studies:

- how much damage has already occurred?
- how much future damage can arise and at what rate?
- what are the changes in the characteristics of the concrete as the reaction develops and how should these changes be considered in the appraisal of the structure?
- is the 'prestressing' action of ASR permanent or does it decay with time?
- what inspection procedures are required?
- what action can be taken to slow ASR damage and secondary corrosion and frost damage?

In particular, the following additional information is required

- comparison between long term field observations and the results of laboratory tests. Particular attention should be paid to the laboratory phenomena of scaling and acceleration.
- presentation of the effects of ASR in characteristic terms to permit easy correlation with BS8110, BS5400, Eurocodes and other documents written in limit state terms.
- improved methods of testing for bond
- improved methods of testing for aggregate reactivity.
- the relationship between ASR and other effects such as frost damage and reinforcement corrosion
- evaluation of cladding and coating techniques used to prevent or reduce ingress of moisture into structures
- · the effects of restraint on expansion
- the relationship between expansion to date and loss of stiffness
- bearing strength.

Appendix A Summary of test procedures

A1 General

A1.1 Summary of overall testing

This appendix expands on Table 6 in Chapter 7. It sets out the basis on which a programme for physical site and laboratory testing can be developed to provide the data necessary for the structural assessment of a particular structure. It is complementary to the diagnostic testing covered by the BCA Committee. The testing can be selected to answer specific questions on the basis set out below. The extent of the testing required will depend on the structural severity rating of the critical parts of the structure.

A1.2 Why has damage occurred?

- Petrographic examination for minerals associated with gel and microcracking.
- Alkali audit based on analysis of concrete and source materials for alkali from cementitious materials, aggregate, water and admixtures and for the effects of alkali migration (wet chemistry and SEM-EDXA).
- Moisture determination of moisture levels in the structure (weight uptake of cores, wooden r.h. plugs).

A1.3 How much physical damage has occurred?

- Measurement of overall and differential movements particularly those which have caused distortion or damage.
- Determination of cracking as sum of crack width in mm/m length related to stress, reinforcement and restraint.
- · Examination of cracking and micro-cracking in cores.
- Measurement of Stiffness (E_c) of cores using Stiffness Damage Test (SDT).
- Measurement of UPV insitu and on cores.
- Measurement of uniaxial compressive (f'c) and tensile (ft) strength and strain to failure.

A1.4 How much further damage may occur?

- Expansion tests, with monitored water up-take, on cores or samples maintained in a damp environment at similar temperatures to those in the structure, either on site or in the laboratory
- · Expansion tests under stress or restraint
- Comparison of E_c and UPV before and after, and f'_c and f_t after expansion test.

A1.5 How fast will further damage develop in the structure?

- Rates in expansion test adjusted for site conditions
- Monitored rates of crack growth, expansion, movement and UPV change measured on the structure
- Rates of moisture supply and migration in the structure.

A2 Summary of core expansion test procedures

The expansion testing of cores to assist in the prediction of future structural behaviour needs to be matched to the range of conditions in the structure. It is a longer term exercise than the rapid 38°C diagnostic expansion test. The planning and

interpretation of structural expansion test data needs to be closely co-ordinated with the site monitoring of movements.

Cores of 70 mm or 95 mm nominal diameter (i.e. 75 mm and 100 mm core holes) are preferred, although larger cores should be tested in specialised circumstances, e.g maximum aggregate size > 25 mm, etc. The cores are removed from selected representative areas of the structure, i.e. those quantified in terms of environment and degree of cracking and with due regard to restraints and stress state, by diamond drilling. Cores for structural expansion tests should not penetrate either cracks or reinforcement.

The process of coring necessarily wets the concrete. The core should then be washed, wiped clean and then allowed to surface dry in freely ventilated shade before it is indelibly marked with a core number, section identification and orientation, wrapped in clingfilm and sealed in polyethylene bags and wrapped or boxed to prevent damage during transportation. Weight and length changes of the concrete can be monitored while the core is in transit by weighing the core and fitting temporary Demec points on jubilee clips immediately after coring. Tests for expansion during coring require a specialist procedure with embedded strain gauges.

At the laboratory the cores should be unwrapped in an environment which will not result in rapid drying. The appearance of the concrete is recorded in detail and Demec points are fitted. The concrete is then cut and labelled. Preferred lengths are:

- 180 mm for 70 mm diameter cores
- 220 mm for 95 mm diameter cores.

These correspond to approximately 2.5 times the diameter and permit three rows of three 50 mm Demec strain gauge lengths. In addition to the preparation of the sample, a core may be cut into a number of pieces which are suitable for other tests, for example for chemical and petrographic analysis or compressive strength testing. The sample to be used should be then photographed, including close-ups of significant cracks in the matrix. SDT and UPV tests may be specified prior to expansion testing.

The expansion test procedure is based on the measurement of the average of the dimensional changes and their variability. These are then related to the changes in moisture measured as variations in weight of the core throughout the duration of the test. All concrete expands and contracts on wetting and drying. If the concrete is dry at the start of an expansion test, the recovery of drying shrinkage will increase the apparent expansion. If this reversible shrinkage recovery exceeds 0.3 mm/m then the total expansion will need to be adjusted. If the weight uptake on a core on test exceeds 15g/kg then the drying shrinkage recovery may exceed 0.3 mm/m and a check should be carried out at the end of the test by drying the core down to its initial weight prior to the test to determine the recoverable shrinkage. Any recoverable shrinkage in excess of 0.3 mm/m should be deducted from the total expansion to give the ASR expansion values for use in appraisal of the structure.

The expansions from shrinkage recovery are more uniform over the length of the core than those due to ASR. This may help in the interpretation of marginal expansion test results in the 0.6 mm/m - 1.0 mm/m range where 6 or 9 Demec gauge lengths can be compared. All expansion data must be corrected to constant temperature so that thermal expansions are excluded. The procedure can be modified to accommodate many combinations of moisture, temperature and restraint in order to simulate conditions encountered on site. The most frequently used environments are as described in Tables A1 (a) and (b).

Table A1 Environments used in core expansion/shrinkage testing

Table A1(a) Moisture environments

Moisture environments	Comments
100% r.h.	Not generally recommended due to uncertainties in achieving the required environment
Water supply	 a) Capillary Core sits in a sealed, inclined container with free water maintained at 10g/kg of core weight b) Wetted As (a), but the free water is poured or sprayed over the core, which sits in the drained surplus
Wrapped	Core is wrapped in wet cloth in a sealed container. This more complicated procedure makes weight monitoring of the core more difficult
Immersion in alkali	Rarely used, except for testing concrete exposed to alkalies in the service environment
Immersion in water	Not recommended due to leaching of alkalies from the concrete
Natural on site	Cores are: a) exposed on racks b) in troughs (to wet and dry in collected rain), or c) sheltered
Drying	In ovens freely ventilated to ambient vapour pressure at the test temperature 30°C, 50°C or 105°C

N.B. Weight changes must be monitored as a measure of initial uptake and moisture fluctuations through all tests from time of coring.

Temperature environment	Comments
38°C	Only recommended for diagnosis; may initially accelerate the reaction but maximum reaction can be reduced
20°C	Typical UK summer temperature. Slower initial expansion but the long term expansion is more realistic
Lab ambient	Generally between 20°C-25°C
13°C	Average UK temperature
5°C	Average UK winter temperature
Freeze/thaw	Expansion and deterioration may be increased by the additional action of freeze/thaw cycles
Natural	Cores are exposed to natural temperature cycling on site

Table A1(b) Temperature environments

N.B. A maximum/minimum thermometer record should always be kept.

Cores may be restrained using steel with an area equivalent to either 1%, 2% or 4% of the concrete cross-section with a preload typically in the range 1 N/mm² to 5 N/mm² to measure the effect of stress on expansion.

Measurements should be taken three times before being placed on test in a damp environment and then on a daily basis for the first 5 days, then every 2 weeks up to 12 weeks, then on a monthly basis. Initial assessment of the severity of the reaction is made at 12 weeks (4 weeks with expansive cores). Further assessment of the potential for long term expansion can be made at 3 to 6 month intervals as the test is maintained in parallel with site monitoring.

Wear of equipment has caused problems when monitoring the slow long term movements. This problem can be overcome by quantifying the wear by measurements made on a set of 9 Demec gauge lengths fixed to a steel plate. The weight of the plate is similar to that of a core, i.e. approximately 1.5 kg, and this provides a check on the weighing procedure and equipment. The plate is read along with the temperature at the beginning and end of each day's measurements on the cores. Any movement recorded on the steel plate gauge lengths is then attributable to either temperature effects or wear on the gauge. The difficulties of maintaining Demec gauge calibration over long periods of use make it necessary to use steel plate data to recalibrate gauges after replacement or reconditioning.

At the conclusion of the expansion test the core can be retested for SDT, UPV, destructively tested for strength including strain to failure, chemically or petrographically analysed, or it may simply be stored for future reference. There are similar shrinkage tests where concrete with or without ASR is exposed to wetting and drying environments. The tests simulate a range of temperature and relative humidities, including 20°C/50% r.h., 30°C or 50°C/oven drying, etc.

A3 Strength tests

When determining the uniaxial compressive strength it is preferable to use a cylinder with a length to diameter ratio of 2.5:1 to 3.0:1 or by means of a special end-loading condition if

only short cores are available. The results of the standard short-core compression test may be misleading, because the apparent strength enhancement, due to platen restraint, is more pronounced for ASR-affected concrete.

Where possible, cores should also be taken from unaffected areas, e.g. those parts sheltered or protected against moisture, to enable direct comparison of strength to be made.

A measure of the degree of tensile strength loss can be obtained from indirect cylinder splitting test on a comprehensive set of cores. A torsion shear strength test on cores has been developed which is less sensitive to irregularity of site cores and tests a larger volume.

Appendix B Bibliography

- 1. Albert, P., & Raphael, S.: 'Alkali-silica reactivity in the Beauharnois power-house, Beauharnois,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986, p 10.
- Abe, M., Kikuta, S., Masuda, Y. & Tomosawa, F.: 'Experimental study on mechanical behaviour of reinforced concrete members affected by alkali-aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 691-697.
- 3. Alasali, M.M., and Malhotra, V.M.: 'High-volume fly ash concretes to control AAR,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control. CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 4. 'Alkali-Aggregate Reaction in Concrete Dams, Bulletin No. 79,' International Congress on Large Dams, Paris, March 1991. Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress, ICOLD, Vienna, June 1991.,'
- 5. 'Alkali-aggregate reaction-preventative measures,' 2nd Int. Conf. on AAR, Icelandic Building Research Institute & State Cement Works, Reykjavik, August 1975.
- 6. Alkali-aggregate reactions in concrete, Digest 330, Building Research Establishment: HMSO, with minor revision 1988.
- 7. Anon: 'Simple tensile test for concrete,' Concrete International, June 1980, p 42.
- 8. Anon: 'ASR damage to water reservoir repaired,' Clerk of Works, May 1989, p 13.
- 9. Appraisal of existing structures, The Institution of Structural Engineers, London, 1980 (currently under revision).
- 10. ASR in Japan, report of a mission team, Cement and Concrete Association, June 1987.
- 11. Baker, A.F.: 'The influence of alkali-silica reactivity on the development of tensile bond strength,' *3rd Int. Conf. on AAR*, Session 3, London, September 1976, p 99.
- 12. Barisone, G., Bottino, G. & Pavia, R.: 'Alkali-silica reaction potentially bearing minerals in alluvial deposits of Calabria, Umbria, and Toscana regions, Italy,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 13. Baroni, G. & Berra, M.: 'The occurrence of AAR in a concrete structure in Italy,' 8th Int. conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science (Japan).
- 14. Beeby, A.W.: 'An investigation of cracking in slabs spanning one way', *Cement and Concrete Research*, April 1970.
- 15. Berra, M.: 'The alkali aggregate reaction in concrete the Italian overview of the problem,' *Report of the proceedings* of the seminar on alkali aggregate the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 16. Bisaillon, A.: 'Occurrence of AAR in concrete dams in Quebec,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control, CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1991.
- Bister, D., Bonnet, P., Denis, B., de Beauchamp, R., Dubois, P., & Gouguel, B.: 'Contribution au suivi des barrages en beton francais sujets à gonflement ou retrait. Application à des ouvrages adultes (Chambon, Vouglans) et au béton jeune (cas du BCR), Q65 R7,' International

Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress, Vienna, June 1991.

- 18. Blight, G.E.: 'Can concrete structures be waterproofed to inhibit ASR,' *Int. Conf. on Protection of Concrete*, University of Dundee, UK, 1990, pp 223-232.
- 19. Blight, G.E.: 'Rehabilitation of reinforced concrete structures affected by alkali silica reaction,' *Structural Engineering Review*, vol. 2, No. 2 June 1990.
- 20. Blight, G.E. & Alexander, M.G.: 'Damage by alkali-aggregate reaction to reinforced concrete structures with Witwatersand quartzite aggregate and examples of repair measures,' *Concrete Beton*, Concrete Society of Southern Africa, vol. 38, 1985, pp 14-23.
- 21. Blight, G.E. & Alexander, M.G.: 'Assessment of AAR damage to concrete structures,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 121.
- 22. Blight, G.E., Alexander, M.G., Schutte, W.K. & Ralph, T.K.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction on the strength and deterioration of a reinforced concrete structure,' *6th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Session 5, Copenhagen, June 1985.
- 23. Blight, G.E., Alexander, M.G., Ralph, T.K. & Lewis, B.A.: 'Effect of alkali-aggregate reaction on the performance of a reinforced structure over a six year period,' *Magazine of Concrete Research* volume 21, number 147, June 1989.
- 24. Blight, G.E., Melver, J.P., Schutte, W.K. & Rimmer, R.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction in the reinforced concrete structures made with Witwatersrand quartzite aggregate,' 4th Int. Conf. on AAR, Paper 15, Session 7, Cape Town, South Africa, March-April 1981.
- 25. Braestrup, M.W. & Holm, J.: 'Structural effects of alkali-silica reactions in concrete,' *Proc. Dabi symposium* on re-evaluation of concrete structures, Copenhagen, June 1988, pp 79-90.
- 26. Bridge Inspection, OECD 1976.
- 27. Bridge Inspection Guide, HMSO, London 1983.
- 28. Bridle, R., Horswell, P. & Fawcett, S.: 'Concrete at Queen's valley reservoir, Jersey.' *Concrete*, pp 20-23, May/June 1991.
- 29. British Rail Research: 'Bridging the maintenance gap between demands and resources,' CIRIA News 1990, No.4.
- 30. BS1881: Testing Concrete, Part 120: Method for determination of the compressive strength of concrete cores, British Standards Institution, London 1983.
- 31. BS1881: Testing Concrete Part 117: Method for determination of tensile splitting strength, British Standards Institution, London 1983.
- Carse, A. & Dux, P.: 'Alkali-silica reaction in Australian concrete structures,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science (Japan), pp 5-31.
- Cavalcanti, A.J.C.T., Silveira, J.F.A. & Degaspare, J.C.: 'Alkali-silicia reaction and remedial measures at Moxoto power plant, Q65 R8,' *International Congress on Large Dams*, 17th Congress, Vienna, June 1991.
- Cavalcanti, A.J.C.T & Silveira, J.F.A.: 'Investigation on the Moxoto Powerhouse concrete affected by alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, pp 797-803.

- 35. Chana, P.S.: 'Bond strength of reinforcement in concrete affected by alkali silica reaction,' Transport and Road Research Laboratory Contractor Report no.141, 1989.
- 36. Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'Bond strength in reinforcement in concrete affected by alkali-silica reaction: phase II,' TRRL Contractor Report 233, 1991.
- Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'The structural performance of reinforced concrete affected by ASR: phase I,' TRRL Contractor Report 267, 1991.
- Chana, P.S. & Korobokis, G.A.: 'The structural performance of reinforced concrete affected by ASR: phase II,' TRRL Contractor Report 311, 1991.
- 39. Changes in the properties of OPC and their effect on concrete, Technical Report no. 29, Concrete Society, London, October 1987.
- Chapman, E.J.K.: 'Problems of massive dams and remedial measures,' BNCOLD Conf. Newcastle-upon-Tyne, 1975.
- 41. Chatterji, S.: 'Mechanisms for alkali-silica reaction in concrete roads,' 8th Int. Conf on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 101-107.
- 42. Chatterji, S.: 'A critical review of the recent Danish literature on alkali-silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 37-43.
- 43. Chatterji, S., Thaulow, N. & Jenson, A. D.: 'Studies of alkali silica reaction, Part six, Practical implications of a proposed reaction mechanism,' *Cement and Concrete Research* vol.18, 1988, pp 363-366.
- 44. Chatterji, S., Thaulow, N. and Jenson, A. D.: 'Studies of alkali-silica reaction, Part four, Effect of different salt solutions on expansion,' *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol 17, No. 5, Sept. 1987, pp 777-785.
- Chrisp, T.M., Crouch, R.S & Wood, J.G.M.: 'The stiffness damage test - a quantitative method of assessing damaged concrete,' Institution of Structural Engineers conf. "The life of structures", Brighton 1989.
- 46. Chrisp, T.M., Wood, J.G.M. & Norris, P.: 'Towards quantification of microstructural damage in AAR deteriorated concrete,' International conf. on recent developments in the fracture of concrete and rock, Cardiff 1989.
- 467 Clark, L. A.: 'Critical review of the structural implications of the alkali silica reaction in concrete,' Department of Transport, Transport and Road Research Laboratory. Contractor report 169.
- 48. Clark, L.A.: 'Structural aspects of alkali silica reaction,' Structural Engineering Review, vol. 2, no.2, June 1990.
- 49. Clark, L.A. & Ng, K.E.: 'Some factors influencing expansion and strength of the SERC/BRE standard ASR concrete mix,' Proc. Science and Engineering Research Council repair, maintenance and operations conf. London, June 1989, pp 89-94.
- Clark, L.A. & Ng, K.E.: 'The effects of alkali silica reaction on the punching shear strength of reinforced concrete slabs,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 659-665.
- 51. Clayton, N.: 'The cylinder splitting test as a method for determining concrete compressive strength,' *Magazine of Concrete Research*. March 1990.
- 52. Clayton, N.: 'Structural performance of ASR affected concrete,' *8th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 671-677.
- Clayton, N., Currie, R.J. & Moss, R.M.: 'The structural effects of alkali silica reaction,' BRE/76/4/13, December 1989.

- Clayton, N., Currie, R.J. & Moss, R.M.: 'The effects of alkali-silica reaction on the strength of prestressed concrete beams,' *The Structural Engineer*, 68, no 15, August 1990, pp 287-292.
- 55. Cole, R.G. & Horswill, P.: 'Val de Mare Dam, Jersey, sixteen years of ASR experience,' *BNCOLD* meeting, October 1987.
- 56. Collins, R.J. & Bareham, P.D.: 'Alkali-silica reaction: suppression of expansion using porous aggregate,' *Cement* and Concrete Research, vol.17, January 1987, pp 89-96.
- Comberbach, C.D., Fookes, P.G. & Cann, J.: 'Deterioration of concrete structures in Southwest England: the use of crack mapping as an investigation tool,' *6th Int. Conf. on* AAR, Session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 455.
- 58. Committee on Materials for Concrete Dams: 'Alkali aggregate reaction in concrete dams,' ICOLD, October 1989.
- Committee on AAR of the Hanshin Expressway Company: 'Report of investigation of alkali-aggregate reaction,' Hanshin Expressway Public Corporation, Osaka, Japan, 1986.,'
- 60. Coombes, L. H.: 'Val de la Mere Dam, Jersey, Channel Islands, London,' 1976, pp 357-70.
- 61. Coombes, L. H., Cole, R. G. & Clarke, R. M.: 'Remedial measures to Val de la Mere Dam, Jersey, Channel Islands,' *paper presented at BNCOLD/university symposium*, University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK, September 1975.
- 62. Cope, R.J. & Slade, L.: 'The shear capacity of reinforced concrete members subjected to alkali silica reaction,' Structural Engineering Review, 1990, 2, pp 105-112.
- 63. Courtier, R.H.: 'The assessment of ASR-affected structures,' Cement & Concrete Composites, 12, 1990, pp 191-201'
- 64. Crouch, R.S. & Wood, J.G.M.: 'Damage evolution in AAR affected concretes,' Int. Symp. on Fracture Damage of Concrete and Rock: new developments and trends, Vienna, July 1988.
- 65. Dahms, V.: 'Influences on the alkali-aggregate reaction under field conditions,' *3rd Int. Conf. on AAR*, Session 6, London, September 1976, p 277.
- 66. Danielsen, S.W., & Nebdal Svendsen V.: 'Ageing of Norwegian concrete dams with emphasis on alkali-aggregrate reaction, Q65 R35,' *International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress*, Vienna, June 1991.
- 67. Danish Ministry of Transport: 'Load carrying capacity of bridges subjected to alkali-silica reaction,' Interim Report no. 1, the shear strength of concrete beams subject to alkali-silica reactions, July 1986.
- 68. Davie, J. & Gripp, J.F.: 'Maentwrog Dam. Deterioration of the concrete fabric of a concrete arch-gravity dam and the related structural implications, Q65 R56,' *International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress*, Vienna, June 1991.
- 69. Davies, G. & Oberholster, R.E.: 'The effect of different outdoor exposure conditions on the expansion due to alkali silica reaction', 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science (Japan), pp 623-629.
- Davis, C.E.S.: 'Studies in cement-aggregate reaction, XXV, Comparison of the expansions of mortar and concrete,' Australian Journal of Applied Science, vol 8, 1957, pp 222-234.
- 71. Davis, C.E.S.: 'Studies in cement-aggregate reaction, XXVI, Comparison of the effect of soda and potash on expansion,' *Australian Journal of Applied Science*, vol 9, March 1958, pp 52-62.

- Davis, A.P., Konicki, W.P. & Williams, K.G.: 'Wyman Station concrete condition investigation, Q65 R51,' International Congress on large dams, Paris, March 1991.
- 73. Department of Transport: Manual of contract documents for highway works, Vol. 1 Specification for highway works, 7th edition, subsection 1704.6, HMSO, December 1991.
- 74. Department of Transport: Manual of contract documents for highway works, Vol. 2 Notes for guidance on specification for highway works, 3rd edition, subsection NG 1704.6, HMSO, December 1991.
- 75. Department of Transport: 'Departmental standard TRMM2/88 Inspection and records of highway structures,' March 1988.
- 76. Departmental advice note BA 44/90 the use of departmental standard BD 44/90 for the assessment of concrete highway bridges and structures, Department of Transport, 1990.
- 77. Doran, D.K. & Moore, J.F.A.: 'Appraisal of the structural effects of alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 677-683.
- 78. Fookes, P.G., Comberbach, C.D. & Cann, J.: 'Field investigation of concrete structures in South West England, parts I-III, *Concrete*,' 17, 18, 1983.
- 79. Fournier, B. & Berube, M.A.: 'Alkali-reactivity potential of carbonate rocks from the St. Lawrence Lowlands,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, The Society of Material Science. (Japan) pp 363-369'.
- 80. French, W.J.: 'Reactions between aggregates and cement paste an interpretation of the pessimum,' *Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology*, London, 1980, vol.13, pp 231-247.
- 81. French, W.J.: 'A review of some reactive aggregates from the United Kingdom with reference to the mechanism of reaction and deterioration,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, pp 226-230, 1986.
- 82. French, W.J.: 'Observations on the alkali aggregate reactions occurring in concrete structures in the United Kingdom,' *Report on the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate the European dimension*, University of London, September 1990.,'
- 83. Fujii, M. et al: 'Surface treatment for concrete structures damaged by alkali aggregate expansion,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 875-881.
- 84. Fujii, M. et al: 'Effect of coating to inhibit alkali aggregate reaction of concrete structures,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 85. Fujii, M. et al: 'The static and dynamic behaviour of reinforced concrete beams with cracking due to alkali-silica reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986.
- 86. Gaeto, T.A.: 'Stewart Mountain dam-concrete core analysis-1983,' U.S. Bureau of Reclamation report rec-erc-84-5, Denver, May 1984.
- 87. Gil Garcia, A. & Cajete Baltar: 'Study on the interaction aggregate-paste in the concrete at the San Esteban dam, Q65 R4,' International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress, Vienna, June 1991.
- 88. Grattan-Bellew, P.E.: 'Preventative measures to counteract expansion of concrete containing alkali reactive aggregates,' *Durability of Building Materials*, 1, no. 4, July 1983, p 363.
- Grattan-Bellew, P. E.: 'Synopsis of current research on alkali-aggregate reactivity with emphasis on papers presented at the 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan,

1989,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrence, testing and control, CANMET, May 1990, Canada.

- 90. Grattan-Bellew, P.E. and Lefebvre, P.J.: 'Effect of confinement on deterioration of concrete made with alkali-carbonate reactive aggregate,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 280.
- 91. Greenman, A.: 'French abandon crumbling Chambon,' New Civil Engineer, August 1986.
- 92. Hamada, H., Otsuki, N. & Fukute, T.: 'Properties of concrete specimens damaged by alkali aggregate reaction, Laumontite related reaction and chloride attack under marine environments,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 603-609.
- Hawkins, M. (Chairman): 'Alkali silica reaction: minimising the risk of damage to concrete - guidance notes and model specification clauses,' Technical Report no. 30, Concrete Society, October 1987.
- 94. Hayward, D.G., Thompson, G.A., Charlwood, R.G. & Steele, R.R.: 'Remedial measures at the Mactaquac generating station, Q65 R47.' *International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress*, Vienna, June 1991.
- 95. Hobbs, D.: 'Alkali silica reaction : its effect on concrete members and structures,' Protection of Concrete, p 798.
- 96. Hobbs, D.W.: 'Expansion due to alkali-silica reaction and the influence of pulverised fuel ash,' 5th Int. Conf. on AAR in Concrete, Paper 30, Cape Town, 1981.
- 97. Hobbs, D.W.: 'Counteracting alkali silica reaction in concrete,' Concrete Construction, November 1989.
- Hobbs, D.W.: 'Alkali-silica reaction: it's effect on concrete members and structures,' *Structural Engineering Review*, 2, pp 65-79, 1990.
- 99. Hobbs, D.W.: Alkali-silica reaction in concrete, Thomas Telford Ltd., London, p 183, 1988.
- 100. Hobbs, D.W.: 'AAR in the UK: diagnosis, concretes affected, preventive measures and remedial actions,' Int. Workshop on AAR in Concrete: occurrence, testing and control. CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 101. Hobbs, D.W.: 'Cracking and expansion due to alkali-silica reaction in the United Kingdom,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 31-37.
- 102. Hobbs, D.W. & Gutteridge, W.A.: 'Particle size of aggregate and it's influence upon the expansion caused by the alkali-silica reaction,' *Magazine of Concrete Research* (Wexham Springs), vol.31, December 1979, pp 235-242.
- 103. Hoote, R.D.: 'Effect of containers on ASTM C441 pyrex mortar bar expansions,' 7th Int. conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 351.
- 104. Hoppe, G.E.: 'Rehabilitation of an arch bridge,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 199.
- 105. Houde, J., Lacroix, P. & Morneau, M.: 'Rehabilitation of railway bridge piers heavily damaged by alkali-aggregate reaction,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 163.
- 106. Ichihara, H., Shimamura, M. & Koskhiiswhi, I.: 'Alkali aggregate reaction in railway prestressed concrete bridges,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan).
- 107. Idorn, G.M.: '30 years with alkalis in concrete,' G.M. Idorn Consult ApS, Naerum, DK (1983).
- 108. Idorn, G.M.: 'Alkali-silica reactions in retrospect and prospect,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, pp 1-9. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 109. Idorn, G.M.: Studies of disintegrated concrete, Part II, Progress Report No.3, Danish Nat. Inst. of Building

Research and the Academy of Technical Sciences, Committee on Alkali Reactions in Concrete.

110. Idorn, G.M. & Ramboll & Hanneman: Alkali-silica reactions in concrete structures, G.M.Idorn consult A/S International Consulting and Research Engineers March 1989.

. •·*

- 111. Inderwick, A.F.: 'Alkali reactivity is modern cement partly to blame?,' Concrete Plant & Production, September 1984, p 351.
- 112. Inoue, S., Fujii, M., Kobayashi, K. & Nakano, K.: 'Structural behaviours of reinforced concrete beams affected by alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 727-733.
- 113. Ishizuka, M., Utoh, S., Kuzume, K., Sugimoto, M. & Nishiboshi, M.: 'Characteristics of road structures damaged by AAR on the Hanshin expressway,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 771-779.,'
- 114. Jenson, V.: 'Present state of knowledge on alkali aggregate reaction in Norway,' Report of the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 115. John, T.D.A.: 'Alkali-aggregate reaction in New Zealand -A continuing problem,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 51-57.
- 116. Jones, F.E. and Tarleton, R.D.: Reactions between aggregates and cement, DSIR, HMSO, 1952.
- 117. Katawaiki, K.: 'Recent diagnosis and repair techniques for damaged structures by ASR - A guideline for public works structure,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 851-857.
- 118. Kawakami, H.: 'A reinforced concrete building deformed by alkali aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 597-603.
- 119. Kawamura, M., Takemoto, K. & Hasaba, S.: 'Case studies of concrete structures damaged by the alkali aggregate reaction in Japan,' *The Cement Association of Japan Review*, 1983, pp 88-89.
- 120. Kawamura, M., Takemoto, K. & Ichise, M.: 'Influences of the alkali-silica reaction on the corrosion of steel reinforcement in concrete,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July 1989.
- 121. Kenny, M.: 'Staking it all on a vampire's shift,' Construction News, November 29th 1990, pp 14-15.
- 122. Kent, D.C. & Park, R.: 'Flexural members with confined concrete,' *Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers*, vol.97, No.St7, July 1971, pp 1969-1990.
- 123. Kobayashi, A., Kirimura, K., Kuboyama, K. & Kojima, T.: 'Evaluation of surface treatment effect for preventing excessive expansion due to alkali-silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 821-827.
- 124. Kobayashi, K., Inoue, S., Yamaasaki, T. & Nakano, K.: 'Alkali aggregate reaction in prestressed concrete beams,' *The International Journal of Cement Composites and Lightweight Concrete*, vol.10, no. 4, Nov 1988.
- 125. Kobayashi, S., Kawano, H., Morihama, K. & Ishii, Y.: 'The Background of AAR preventive measures adopted by the Japanese ministry of construction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 803-809.,'
- 126. Kobayashi, S. & Marihama, K.: 'Load carrying behaviour of concrete structures and members affected by alkali-aggregate reactions: reinforced concrete columns,'

Concrete Journal, Japanese Concrete Institute, 24, no. 11, November 1986, pp 64-69.

- 127. Kobayashi, K., Shiraki, R. & Kawai, K.: 'Influence of alkali concentration distribution occurring in concrete members on expansion and cracking due to alkali - silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 641-647.
- 128. Kobayashi, K.: 'Load carrying behaviours of concrete structures and members affected by alkali-aggregate reactions: reinforced concrete beams,' *Concrete Journal*, Japan Concrete Institute, 24, 1989, pp 70-78.
- 129. Kobayashi, K., Kojima, T., Utoh, S., Ono, K. & Matsumura, M.: 'Repair of concrete structures damaged by alkali silica reactions and its effects,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 863-869.
- 130. Koike, M., Katawaki, K. & Moriya, S.: 'Development of injection materials and the standard for repairing damage to structures caused by AAR,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 833-839.,'
- 131. Koyanagi, W., Rokugo, K. & Ishida, H.: 'Failure behaviour of reinforced concrete beams deteriorated by alkali-silica reactions,' *Proc. 7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986.
- 132. Koyanagi, W., Rokugo, K., Morimoto, H. & Iwase, H.: 'Characteristics and simulation of concrete cracks caused by AAR,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 845-851.
- 133. Kroll, R., Packdam. 'Overall repair after 50 years of operation, Q65 R17,' International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress, Vienna, June 1991.
- 134. Kurihara, T. & Katawaki, K.: 'Effects of moisture control and inhibition on alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. the Society of Material Science, (Japan).
- 135. Kuwanara, K., Kobayashi, S., Morihama, K. & Asakura, H.: 'Re-evaluation on the strength of reinforced concrete members cracked by alkali aggregate reaction,' Int. Symposium, re-evaluation of concrete structures reliability and load carrying capacity. June, 1988, Denmark, Danish concrete Institute.,'
- 136. Larbi, J.A. & Hudec, P.P.: 'A study of alkali-aggregate reaction in concrete: measurement and prevention,' *Cement and Concrete Research*. Vol. 20, pp 73-78, 1990.
- 137. Lee, C.: 'Effects of alkalis in Class C fly ash on alkali aggregate reaction,' *3rd Int. Conf. on AAR*, Trondheim, Norway, 1989.
- 138. Lenzer, D.: 'Comparative laboratory tests on the alkali-aggregate reaction,' *6th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Session 4, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 321.
- 139. Lenzer, D.: 'Amtliche materialprufanstalt fur steine und erden (DE), (the alkali aggregate reaction in Germany),' *Report on the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension*, University of London, September 1990.
- 140. Lenzer, D, & Ludwig, U.: 'The detection of alkali-silica reactions in concrete structures,' (in German), Zement-Kalk-Grips, 1979, 32(8), p 401.
- 141. Lenzer, D. & Ludwig, U.: 'The alkali-aggregate reaction with opaline sandstone from Schleswig-Holstein,' 4th Int. Conf. on effects of alkalis in cement and concrete, Indiana, USA, 1978.
- 142. Lewczuk, L., Macneill, G. & Demerchant, D.: 'Distribution and composition of reaction products in existing structures and laboratory concretes as the indicator of ASR of aggregates,' Canadian developments in testing concrete

aggregates for AAR, report EM-92, Ministry of Transportation, Ontario, Canada, March 1990.

- 143. Ludwig, U.: 'Theoretical and practical research on the alkali-silica reaction,' 5th Int. Conf. on AAR, Paper 24, Session 10, Cape Town, South Africa, March 1981.
- 144. Ludwig, U.: 'Effects of environment conditions on alkali aggregate reaction and preventive measures,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 583-597.
- 145. Magni, E.P., Rogers, C.A. & Grattan-Bellew, P.E.: 'The influence of the alkali-silicate reaction on structures in the vicinity of Sudbury, Ontario,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Paper 5, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 17.
- 146. Malhotra, V.M.: 'An overview of the CANMET research program on AAR in concrete,' Int. Workshop on AAR in Concrete: occurrences, testing and control. Canmet, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 147. Mancini, G. & Napoli, P.: Consolidation of structural elements damaged by ASR, Politechnico di Torino.
- 148. Mather, B.:'New concern over alkali-aggregate reaction,' Reykjavik, Iceland, August 1975.
- 149. McGowan, J.K. & Vivian, H.E.: 'Studies in cement-aggregate reaction. XXVIII. The effect of superincumbent load on mortar bar expansion,' Australian Journal of Applied Science, vol. 5, 1954, pp 94-99.
- 150. McLeish, A.: 'Structural implications of the alkali silica reaction in concrete,' Department of Transport, Transport and Road Research Laboratory. Contractor report 177.
- 151. Millet, J.C., Denier, D., Gouguel, B. & Michel, G.: 'Fissurations de barrages provoquees par un gonflement des betons. Q57 R35,' *International Congress on Large Dams*, 15th Congress, Lausanne 1985.
- 152. Mizumoto, Y., Kosa, K., Ono, K. & Nakono, K.: 'Study on cracking damage of a concrete structure due to alkali-silica reaction,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 204.
- 153. Millet, J.C.: 'Weathering of concrete in Chambon Dam, a balance sheet of the studies,' Civil Engineering Division Production Dept, Electricite de France, 1986.
- 154. Moir, G.K., Lumley, J.S.: 'Influence of partial cement replacement by ground granulated slag on the expansion of concrete prisms containing reactive silica,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan).
- 155. Moore, A.E.: 'An attempt to predict the maximum forces that could be generated by alkali-silica reaction,' 4th Int. Conf. on AAR, paper 26, Purdue University, June 1978, p 363.
- 156. Moranvile-Regourd, M.: 'Alkali aggregate reaction in France,' *Report of the proceedings of the seminar on alkali* aggregate-the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 157. Morgan, D.R.: 'Examples of AAR in concrete structures in Western Canada,' Canadian developments in testing concrete aggregates for AAR, report EM-92, Ministry of Transportation, Ontario, Canada, March 1990.
- 158. Moriya, S., Obata, H., Katawaki, K., & Koike, M.: 'Study on the reduced reactivity rate of concrete used with repairing materials in laboratory and field,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 857-863.
- 159. Morup, H.: 'A swimming pool deteriorated by AAR,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983.,'
- 160. Mukherjee, P.K. & Bickley, J.A.: 'Performance of glass as concrete aggregates,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 36.

- 161. 'Concrete problems burst forth,' New Civil Engineer, 24 April 1990.
- 162. Nakano, K. et al: 'Study on expansion properties of alkali reactive aggregate by concrete,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 409-417.
- 163. Natesaiyer, K. & Hover, K.C.: 'Some field studies of the new insitu method for identification of alkali silica reaction products,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 555-561.
- 164. Natesaiyer, K.C. & Kenneth, C.H.: 'Further study of an in situ identification method for alkali silica reaction products in concrete,' *Cement and Concrete Research*. vol. 19, pp 770-778, 1989. (Printed in the USA)
- 165. Ng, K.E.: 'Effect of alkali-silica reaction on the punching shear capacity of reinforced concrete slabs,' PhD Thesis, 1990.
- 166. Neilssen, A.: 'Service life prediction and alkali-silica reaction,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 411.
- 167. Nielssen, A.: 'Sorption properties of concrete with alkali-silica reactive aggregate,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 2, Copenhagen, Denmark, p 329.
- 168. Nielsen, L-O.: 'Moisture effects on the alkali-silica reaction: Part 1 - the nature of the reaction and laboratory assessment,' Highways and transportation, 32(3), 1985, p 3.
- 169. Nishibayashi, S.: 'Alkali-aggregate reactivity in Japan A review,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. the Society of Material Science. (Japan). p 17-25.
- 170. Nishibayashi, S., Yamura, K. & Sakata, K.: 'Evaluation of cracking of concrete due to alkali aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 759-765.
- 171. Nishibayashi, S., Yamura, K. & Sakata, K.: 'Research on influence of cyclic wetting and drying on alkali - aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 617-623.
- 172. Nixon, P.J.: 'Review of United Kingdom specifications, test methods and guidance for avoidance of damage from alkali aggregate reactions,' *Report of the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension*, University of London, September 1990.
- 173. Nixon, P.J. & Bollinghaus, R.: 'The effect of alkali-aggregate reaction on the tensile and compressive strength of concrete,' *Durability of Building Materials*, 2, 1985, p 243.
- 174. Nixon, P.J. & Gillson, I.P.: 'An investigation into alkali-silica reaction in concrete bases at an electrical substation,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986.,'
- 175. Oberholster, R.E.: 'Alkali-reactivity of siliceous aggregates: diagnosis of reaction, testing of cement and aggregate and prescription measures,' *6th Int. Conf. on* AAR, session 5, Copenhagen Denmark, June 1983, p 419.
- 176. Oberholster, R.E.: 'AAR in South Africa: some recent developments in research', 8th Int. conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 77-83.
- 177. Ono, S., Yoshioka, Y., Shin, Y. & Morikawa, T.: 'The mechanical behaviour of beams coated after alkali silica reaction damage,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 697-703.
- 178. Okado, K., Mizumoto, Y., Nakano, K., Ono, K. & Matsumura, M.: 'Study of alkali - silica reaction by reinforced concrete models,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto,

Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 709-715.

179. Okado, K.: 'Present situation of alkali-aggregate reaction in Japan,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 216.

...

- 180. Okado, K., Nihibayashi, S. & Kawamura, M.: proc. 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, July 1989.
- 181. Okado, K., Tezuka, M., Yoshikawa, T., Himeno, M. & Komada, M.: 'Alkali aggregate reaction : An investigation of its causes and strength evaluations of materials subjected to its effects,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 609-617.
- 182. Okado, K., Utoh, S., Imai, H. & Ono, K.: 'Concrete structures damaged by alkali - silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 791-797.
- 183. Okino, M.: 'Investigation and repair works for concrete corrosion by alkali silica reaction,' *Proceedings of Japan Society of Civil Engineers*, vol.4, No. 367, March 1986.
- 184. Olafsson, H.: 'Repair of vulnerable concrete,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 479.
- 185. Olafsson, H.: 'The effect of relative humidity and temperature on alkali expansion of mortar bars', 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 461.
- 186. Olafsson, H.: 'AAR Problems in Iceland present state,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). Pages 65-71.
- 187. Ono, K.: 'Strength and stiffness of alkali silica reaction concrete and concrete members,' *Structural Engineering Review*, vol.2, No.2, June 1990.
- 188. Ono, K.: 'Assessment and repair of damaged concrete structure,' 8th Int. conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 189. Palmer, D. (Chairman): *The diagnosis of alkali-silica reaction*. Report of a Working Party, 2nd editon, British Cement Association, Slough, 1992.
- 190. Palmer, D. (Chairman): The diagnosis of alkali silica reaction. Report of a Working Party, British Cement Association, 1988.
- Palmer, D.: 'Alkali-aggregate reaction in Great Britain the present position,' Concrete, 15, No. 3, March 1981, p 24.
- 192. Palmer, D.: 'Aspects of the diagnosis of alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 741-747.
- 193. Peterson, S.E.: 'Damages to swimming pools due to alkali-silica reaction,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 441.
- 194. Pike, R.G.: 'Pressures developed in cement pastes and mortars by the alkali-silica reaction,' *Highway Research Bulletin*, 171, 1985, pp 34-36.
- 195. Pleau, R. et al: 'Mechanical behaviour of concrete affected by ASR', 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 721-733.
- 196. Poitevin, P.: 'Effects in practice of alkalis in concrete,' *6th Int. Conf. on AAR*, session 5, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 391.
- 197. Poole, A.B.: 'Some controlling factors relating to extensive alkali aggregate reactions in concretes,' *Report of the* proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 198. Poole, A.B.: 'Alkali-silica reactivity in concrete from Dhekelia, Cyprus,' 2nd Int. Conf. on AAR, Icelandic

Building Research Inst. and State Cement Works, Reykjavik, Aug. 1975, p 101.

- 199. Poulsen, E.: 'A review of alkali aggregate reaction in Scandinavia with particular reference to Denmark,' Report of the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 200. Proc. 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Institute for Research in Construction, National Research Council of Canada:, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986.
- 201. Proc. of the 4th Int. Conf. on the effects of alkalis in cement and concrete, Purdue University, USA, 1987.
- 202. Pullar-Strecker, P.: Corrosion damaged concrete assessment and repair, CIRIA, London, 1987.
- 203. Putterill, K.E. & Oberholster, R.E.: 'Investigation of different variables that influence the expansion of concrete caused by AAR under natural environmental conditions,' National Building Research Institute, Pretoria, South Africa, 1985.
- 204. 'Report on full appraisal and recommendations for future management of Marsh Mills Viaduct,' Mott, Hay & Anderson, vol. 2, Department of Transport, SWRO: appendices, March 1986.
- 205. Research and Practice 6th Int. Conf. on alkalis in concrete, Danish Concrete Association, Copenhagen, June 1983.
- 206. Reynolds, G.C.: 'Bond strength of deformed bars in tension,' Cement and Concrete Association, technical report 42.548, May 1982, pp 23.
- 207. Robins, P. J. and Standish, I. G.: 'Effect of lateral pressure on bond in reinforcing bars in concrete,' proc. Int. Conf. bond in concrete, Paisley, Applied Science, London, 1982.
- 208. Rogers, C.A.: 'Alkali-aggregate reactivity in canada, canadian developments in testing concrete aggregates for AAR,' report EM-92, Ministry of Transportation, Ontario, Canada, March 1990.
- 209. Rogers, C.A.: 'Concrete prism expansion testing to evaluate slow/late expanding alkali-silicate/silica reactive aggregates, canadian developments in testing concrete aggregates for AAR,' report EM-92, Ministry of Transportation, Ontario, Canada, March 1990.
- Rogers, C.A.: 'Alkali-aggregate reactivity in Canada,' 8th Int. conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 57-65.
- 211. Rogers, C.A.: 'Review of AAR in Ontario,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, paper 3, Ottawa, Canada 1986.
- 212. Rogers, C.A.: 'Canadian standards and AAR,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control. CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 213. Rogers, C.A. & Hooton, R.D.: 'Leaching of alkalis in alkali-aggregate reaction testing,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 214. Rogers, C.A. & Tharmabala, T.: 'Prestressed concrete members affected by alkali-silica reaction,' *Concrete International*, 12, no 8, August 1990.
- 215. Sagoo, K.T.: 'Alkali-silica reaction in the United Kingdom,' BSc (hons) Degree In Civil Engineering, Thames Polytechnic April 1986.
- 216. Science and Engineering Research Council/Building Research Establishment: 'Effect of ASR on structural performance-joint BRE/SERC research,' Civil Engineering Research Newsletter, September 1988, p 5.
- 217. Shayan, A.: 'Re-examination of AAR in an old concrete,' Cement and Concrete Research, Vol. 19, pp 434-442, 1989.

218. Shayan, A. & Ivanusec, I.: 'Influence of NaOH on mechanical properties of cement paste and mortar with and without reactive aggregate,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July 1989, pp 715-720.

- 219. Sherwood, D.E & Marriot, M.: 'Non-destructive testing of concrete dams by sonic speed measurement (Val De Mar Dam),' BNCOLD Conf., Newcastle-upon-Tyne.
- 220. Shiraki, R. & Kobayashi, K.: 'Quality and quantity of reactive substances in volcanic rocks,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 567-573.
- 221. Sibbick, R.G. & West, G.: 'Joints blamed for ASR attack in M40 concrete,' New Civil Engineer, 17th August 1989.
- 222. Silveira, J.F.A., Degaspare, J.C. & Cavalcanti, A.J.C.T.: 'The opening of expansion joints at the Moxoto Powerhouse to counteract the alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). Pages 747-753.
- 223. Sims, G.P.: 'Kamburu Spillway a case study,' BNCOLD Meeting, October 1987.
- 224. Sims, G.P. & Evans, D.E.: 'Alkali-silica reaction, Kamburu Spillway, Kenya - case history,' Proc. ICE, 1988 pp 1213-1235.
- 225. Sims, I., & Sotiropoulos, P.: 'A pop out forming type of ASR in the United Kingdom,' Poster session of the 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan 1989.
- 226. Smith, J. & Dyer, B.C.: 'Seismic tomography as a tool for monitoring condition of a concrete dam,' proc. Instn. Civ. Engrs, part 2, 1990, 89, June, 289-293.
- 227. Smith, R. L. & Crook, M. J.: 'The non destructive detection and mapping of ASR cracking in concrete,' Department of Transport, Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Contractor report 156.
- 228. Soers, E.: 'The alkali aggregate reaction in Belgium,' Report of the proceedings of the seminar on alkali aggregate-the European dimension, University of London, September 1990.
- 229. Somerville, G.: 'Engineering aspects of alkali-silica reaction,' Interim technical note 8, Cement and Concrete Association, Slough, Oct. 1985.
- 230. Stanton, D.E.: 'Expansion of concrete through reaction between cement and aggregate,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, 1989, pp 715-720.
- 231. Stark, D.: 'Osmotic cell test to identify potential for alkali-aggregate reactivity,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, session 4, Copenhagen, Denmark, June 1983, p 351.
- 232. Stark, D.: 'Alkali-silica reactivity in five dams in south-western United States,' US Dept. of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Denver, US, July 1985.
- 233. Stark, D.: 'Eliminating or minimising the risk of alkali-silica reactivity,' SHRP Focus, March 1990.
- 234. Stark, D.: 'The moisture condition of field concrete as it affects expansion due to ASR,' *Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control.* CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 235. Strauss, P.J.: 'Rehabilitation of a Portland cement concrete pavement cracked by alkali-aggregate reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 210.
- 236. Structural effects of alkali silica reaction interim technical guidance on appraisal of existing structures, The Institution of Structural Engineers, London 1988.
- 237. Struble, L. & Diamond, S.: 'Unstable swelling behaviour of alkali-silica gels,' Cement and Concrete Research, II (4), 1981, p 611.
- 238. Sudhindra, C. Suri, S.B., Chandrasekaran, N. & Gupta, A.L.: 'An accelerated method for detection of alkali silica

reactivity potential of quartz bearing aggregrates, Q65 R46,' International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress, Vienna, June 1991.

- 239. Swamy, R.N. & Al-Asali, M.: 'Control of alkali-silica reaction in reinforced concrete beams,' ACI Materials Journal, January/February 1990.
- 240. Swamy, R.N.: 'Alkali silica reaction and concrete structures,' *Structural Engineering Review*, vol 2. No.2, June 1990.
- 241. Swamy, R.N.: 'Structural implications of alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 683-691.
- 242. Swamy, R.N. & Al-Asali, M.M.: 'Effect of alkali silica reaction on the structural behaviour of reinforced concrete beams,' *ACI Structural journal* vol 86, no.4, July/August 1989.
- 243. Takemura, T., Tazawa, E., Yonekura, A. & Abe, Y.: 'Mechanical characteristics of reinforced concrete column affected by alkali aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 665-671.
- 244. Takeyoshi, M. & Katawaski, K.: 'Study of effect of concrete surface coating for prevention of alkali silica reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 815-821.
- 245. Taki, T., Takeyoshi, M., Noda, K. & Katawaki, K.: 'Suppression of alkali-aggregate reaction by concrete surface coating,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science, (Japan).
- 246. Tepfers, R.: 'Cracking of concrete cover along anchored deformed reinforcing bars,' *Magazine of Concrete Research*, vol. No. 106, 1979.
- 247. Thaulow, N., Holm, J. & Andersen, K.T.: 'Petrographic examination and chemical analysis of the Lucinda jetty prestressed concrete roadway,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, the Society of Material Science, (Japan), pp 573-583.
- 248. Thompson, G.A.: 'AAR at the Mactaquac Dam and remedial procedures,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control, CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 249. Thompson, G.A.: 'Construction aspects of slot cutting in the Mactaquac intake,' proceedings of the 20th annual acres geotechnical seminar, April 1989, Niagara Falls, Canada, 18.,'
- 250. Thorsen, T.S.: 'Alkali-silica reactions in reinforced concrete beams with particular reference to bearing capacity,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, 1986, p 146.
- 251. Tomita, M., Miyagawa, T. & Nakano, K.: 'Basic study for diagnosis of concrete structure affected by alkali silica reaction using drilled concrete core,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material science. (Japan) pp 779-785.
- 252. Tomosawa, F., Tamura, K. & Abe, M.: 'Influence of water content on alkali aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 881-end.
- 253. Tordoff, M.A.: 'Assessment of pre-stressed concrete bridges suffering from alkali-silica reaction,' *Cement & Concrete Composites*, 12, (1990), pp 203-210.
- 254. Turton, C.D. (Chairman): 'Report of a working party, non-structural cracking of concrete', Concrete Society Report 22, London, December 1982.
- 255. Tuthill, L.H.: 'Alkali-silica reaction 40 years later,' Concrete International, April 1982, p 32.

- 256. Van Aardt, J.H.P & Visser, S.: 'Calcium hydroxide attack on feldspars and clays: possible relevance to cement-aggregate reactions,' *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 7, pp 643-648, 1977.
- 257. Van den Berg, C.L. & Seddon, C.V.: 'Alkali-aggregate reaction in large dams in South Africa. Effects and remedial measures, Q65 R38,' *International Congress on Large Dams, 17th Congress*, Vienna, June 1991.
- 258. Van Gemert, D.: 'Alkali-aggregate reaction in Belgium: Concrete highway and office building,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan). pp 43-51.
- 259. Vanderstraeten, A. T.: 'Repair of alkali aggregate reaction damage to the motorway structures of Pell Street interchange, Port Elisabeth Republic of South Africa', conference de Ottawa, proceedings, 1986, p 1986.
- 260. Visvesvaraya, H.C., Rajkumar, C. & Mullick, A.K.: 'Analysis of distress due to alkali-aggregate reaction in gallery structures of a concrete dam', 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986, p 188.
- 261. Vivian, H.E.: 'Studies in cement-aggregate reaction, III, The effect of void space on mortar expansion,' Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (Australia) bulletin, no. 229, 1947, pp 55-66.
- 262. West, G. & Sibbick, R.G.: 'A Mechanism for alkali-silica reaction in concrete roads,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989, The Society of Material Science, (Japan). pp 95-101.
- 263. West, G., & Sibbick, R.: 'Alkali-Silica Reaction In Roads
 Part 2,' *Highways* Vol. 57 No. 1949 (May 1989).
- 264. Wood, J.G.M.: 'Engineering assessment of structures with alkali-silica reaction,' *Concrete Society Conference*, London, November 1985.
- 265. Wood, J.G.M.: 'Desordres provoques par la reaction alcalis granulats dans les ouvrages en beton arme,' Anales ITBTP n. 469, November 1988.
- 266. Wood, J.G.M.: 'Concrete bridges and alkali silica reaction : Part 2 inspection, structural effects and specification of materials,' *Institution of Highways and Transportation Seminar*, Leamington Spa, April 1984.
- 267. Wood, J.G.M.: 'Management strategies for buildings and bridges subject to degradation from alkali aggregate

reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada August 1986.

- 268. Wood, J.G.M.: 'Physical effects of AAR: structures as a laboratory,' Int. workshop on AAR in concrete: occurrences, testing and control. CANMET, Halifax, Canada, May 1990.
- 269. Wood, J.G.M. & Johnson, R.A. : 'Reappraisal of substandard and deteriorating bridges,' *Institution of Structural Engineers seminar on assessment of reinforced* & prestressed concrete bridges, London 1988.
- 270. Wood, J.G.M. & Johnson, R.A.: 'An engineers perspective on U.K. experience with alkali aggregate reaction,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan), pp 785-791.
- 271. Wood, J.G.M., Johnson, R.A. & Norris, P.: 'Management strategies for buildings and bridges subject to degradation from alkali-aggregate reaction,' 7th Int. Conf. on AAR, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986.
- 272. Wood, J.G.M. & Crouch, R.S.: 'Damage evolution in AAR affected concretes,' Int. Conf. on fracture and damage of concrete and rock; new developments and trends, Vienna 1988.
- 273. Wood, J.G.M., Johnson, R.A. & Abbott, R.J.: 'Monitoring and proof load testing to determine the rate of deterioration and the stiffness and strength of structures with AAR,' *IStructE/BRE seminar - structural assessment based on full* and large scale testing, Watford 1987.
- 274. Wood, J.G.M., Norris, P. & Barr, B.I.G.: 'Concrete shear strength determination using cores subjected to torsional loading', *Magazine of Concrete Research*, December 1990.
- 275. Wood, J.G.M., Norris, P. & Leek, D.S.: 'Physical behaviour of AAR damaged concrete in structures and in test conditions,' 8th Int. Conf. on AAR, Kyoto, Japan, July, 1989. The Society of Material Science. (Japan).
- 276. Wood, J.G.M. and Wickens, P.J.: 'Structural effects of AAR on reinforced concrete and consideration of remedial action,' 6th Int. Conf. on AAR, Danish Concrete Association, Copenhagen, June 1983, p 487.
- 277. Wood, J.G.M., Young, J.S. & Ward, D.E.: 'The structural effects of alkali-aggregate reaction on reinforced concrete,' *7th Int. Conf. on AAR*, Ottawa, Canada, August 1986.